Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Isabella Aguado

March 27, 2025

Temporary Status, Uneven Gains: Labor Market Effects of TPS on Central American Immigrants

by

Isabella Aguado

Hau Nguyen

 ${\rm Adviser}$

Economics

Hau Nguyen

Adviser

Pedro Sant'Anna Committee Member

Paloma Lopez de mesa Moyano Committee Member

2025

Temporary Status, Uneven Gains: Labor Market Effects of TPS on Central American Immigrants

By

Isabella Aguado

Hau Nguyen Adviser

An abstract of

a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Economics

2025

Abstract

Temporary Status, Uneven Gains: Labor Market Effects of TPS on Central American Immigrants

By Isabella Aguado

This paper investigates the labor market effects of Temporary Protected Status (TPS)on eligible immigrants from designated countries. Focusing on immigrants from Honduras, Nicaragua, and El Salvador, I assess the impact of TPS on several labor outcomes: pretax personal income, annual wages, weekly hours worked, labor force participation, and employment status. Using data from the American Community Survey and a Difference-in-Differences (DiD) framework, I compare TPS-eligible individuals to similarly undocumented likely immigrants from the same country of origin who arrived after the eligibility cutoff, as well as to a control group of Mexican immigrants. My analysis isolates the effect of TPS as a form of temporary legalization and reveals that its labor market benefits are not uniform. In particular, I find that the impact of the policy varies by country, gender, and educational attainment. These findings suggest that liminal legality, while offering some economic stability, interacts with existing social and institutional inequalities, limiting the extent of TPS's labor-enhancing potential across subgroups.

Temporary Status, Uneven Gains: Labor Market Effects of TPS on Central American Immigrants

By

Isabella Aguado

Hau Nguyen Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Economics

2025

Contents

List of Tables

List of Figures

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Background of Temporary Protected Status (TPS)	2		
	1.2	Amnesty and Legalization Programs: Impacts on Social Assimilation and			
		Economic Advancement	3		
	1.3	The Unique Nature of TPS: Temporary Legal Status and Liminal Legality .	5		
	1.4	Research Problem and Core Question	7		
	1.5	The Study's Unique Contribution	9		
2	Me	thod	11		
	2.1	Data and Sample	11		
	2.2	Methodology	14		
		2.2.1 Regression Equation	14		
		2.2.2 Key Assumptions	17		
	2.3	Robustness Checks	18		
3	Res	sults	19		
	3.1	General Sample Results	19		
	3.2	Gender Subsets Results	21		

	3.3	Results Discussion	25
	3.4	Empirical Concerns	28
4	Con	clusion	30
A	App	pendix	36
	A.1	Variable Descriptions	36
	A.2	Summary Statistics	37
		A.2.1 Summary Statistics by TPS Eligibility	37
		A.2.2 Summary Statistics for Women	38
		A.2.3 Summary Statistics for Men	39
	A.3	Sample Sizes	40
	A.4	Regression Results	41
		A.4.1 Basic Model Regression Results	41
		A.4.2 Extended Model Regression Results	43
		A.4.3 Men and Women By Education Results	46
		A.4.4 Basic Model Women Only Regression Results	55
		A.4.5 Basic Model Men Only Regression Results	56
		A.4.6 Extended Model Men Only Regression Results	57
		A.4.7 Extended Model Women Only Regression Results	59
	A.5	Balance Tests	63
	A.6	Event Studies	66
	A.7	Geographic Distribution	68
	A.8	Robustness Checks	70

A.8.1	Guatemala Regression	70
A.8.2	Placebo Test	71
A.9 Indus	try Distribution	73

List of Tables

1	Difference-in-Differences (DID) Estimates by Country	23
2	Difference-in-Differences (DID) Estimates by Country, Gender, and Education	
	Level	24
3	Variable Descriptions	36
4	Demographic and Economic Statistics by TPS Eligibility	37
5	Demographic and Economic Statistics for Females by TPS Eligibility \ldots	38
6	Demographic and Economic Statistics for Males by TPS Eligibility \ldots	39
7	Overall Sample Sizes by Country and Eligibility	40
8	Mexico Control Sample Size by Country and Eligibility	40
9	Sample Sizes by Gender, Country, and Eligibility	40
10	TPS Eligible by Education Level and Country	41
11	Regression Results by Country: Basic Model	41
12	Regression Results by Country: Extended Model	43
13	Basic Regression Results for Men with High School Diploma	47
14	Full Regression Results for Men without High School Education $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	49
15	Full Regression Results for Women with High School Education $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	51
16	Full Regression Results for Women without High School Diploma	53

17	Women Only Basic Model: Regression Results by Country	55
18	Men Only Basic Model: Regression Results by Country	56
19	Men Only Extended Model: Regression Results by Country	57
20	Women Only Extended Model: Regression Results by Country	59
21	Balance Test: Treatment Country Cohorts	63
22	Balance Test: Mexico Cohorts	64
23	Balance Tests: TPS Eligible (El Salvador vs. Mexico)	64
24	Balance Tests: Non TPS-Eligible (El Salvador vs. Mexico)	65
25	Balance Tests: TPS Eligible (Honduras/Nicaragua vs. Mexico)	65
26	Balance Tests: Non-TPS Eligible (Honduras/Nicaragua vs. Mexico)	66
27	Regression Results: Guatemala Robustness Check	70
28	Placebo Regression Results by Country	71

List of Figures

1	Event Study Graphs for El Salvador	66
2	Event Study Graphs for Honduras	67
3	Event Study Graphs for Nicaragua	67
4	Geographic Distribution-TPS Eligible - Graph 1	68
5	Geographic Distribution-TPS Eligible - Graph 2	68
6	Geographic Distribution-TPS Eligible - Graph 3	68
7	Geographic Distribution-TPS Not Eligible - Graph 1	69
8	Geographic Distribution-TPS Not Eligible - Graph 2	69

9	Geographic Distribution-TPS Not Eligible - Graph 3	69
10	Top Industries for Honduras by TPS Eligibility and Gender $\ \ . \ . \ . \ .$	73
11	Top Industries for Nicaragua by TPS Eligibility and Gender $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	74
12	Top Industries for El Salvador by TPS Eligibility and Gender	74

Temporary Status, Uneven Gains: Labor Market Effects of TPS on Central American Immigrants

Isabella Aguado

March 2025

1 Introduction

Immigration policies play a pivotal role in shaping labor market outcomes for migrant communities. Temporary Protected Status (TPS), a U.S. immigration policy designed to offer temporary legal relief to previously undocumented individuals from countries affected by crises, has served as a crucial legalization mechanism for hundreds of thousands of immigrants. Despite its widespread implementation, little is known about its effectiveness in improving labor market outcomes in the years immediately following its designation. While previous studies (e.g., Orrenius & Zavodny, 2014; Harris & Jerch, 2024; Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2023) have assessed TPS's long-term effects or focused on a single nationality, this study adopts a comparative approach to evaluate its short-term labor market impacts across multiple recipient groups. Analyzing labor outcomes within ten years after TPS implementation provides a crucial perspective on whether the program achieved its intended humanitarian goal of promoting economic stability and whether its benefits are distributed evenly across different nationalities, genders, and education levels. Further, if TPS helps recipients achieve economic mobility, it strengthens the argument that TPS is not just humanitarian relief but also an economic asset. Policymakers can use this evidence to defend TPS renewals or advocate for a pathway to legal status for long-term beneficiaries like Nicaragua, Honduras, and El Salvador. Conversely, if TPS does not lead to better economic outcomes, it may suggest the program's design limitations, such as barriers to professional advancement and administrative hurdles. Studying the initial labor market effects of TPS is critical for understanding its function as a policy tool—was it effective from the outset, or did its benefits emerge only after long-term extensions, as indicated in existing literature?

Through this analysis, I aim to contribute to the limited research on temporary programs and offer new insights into the ongoing policy debate around temporary immigration protections and their effectiveness in supporting economic advancement and mobility for immigrant communities.

1.1 Background of Temporary Protected Status (TPS)

Temporary Protected Status (TPS) is a U.S. immigration policy enacted in the 1990s to temporarily relieve deportation for immigrants from countries affected by armed conflict, natural disasters, or other dangerous conditions. The U.S. government grants this status, following international annesty provisions, when a country is deemed unsuitable for the return of its citizens currently in the USA (Menjívar et al., 2022). The Secretary of Homeland Security decides which countries to designate as TPS beneficiaries, granting them a work permit and relieving them from the threat of removal/deportation for six to eighteen months. These benefits are extended for this defined period, with the possibility of extensions based on ongoing conditions in their home countries. Beneficiaries are eligible for TPS if they originate from a designated country and have continuously resided in the U.S. before a specific time (usually soon after the disaster). Some of these countries' protections have been constantly renewed for twenty years under the condition that applicants register for renewal during the appropriate deadline, pay immigration fees, maintain no criminal record, and meet various other requirements (USCIS, 2024). To acquire TPS, eligible individuals must report to the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS), submit a processing fee, and ensure they act within the appropriate, subject-to-change registration period. Around 325,000 migrants from 13 TPS-designated countries resided in the United States in 2017. Over 90% of these beneficiaries came from El Salvador, Honduras, and Haiti (Warren & Kerwin, 2017). TPS has been extended to El Salvador, Honduras, Nicaragua, Haiti, Sudan, South Sudan, Syria, Yemen, Somalia, Venezuela, Afghanistan, Myanmar (Burma), Cameroon, and Nepal.

Honduras, Nicaragua, and El Salvador are particularly interesting TPS recipients due to their large U.S. population benefiting from TPS, their length of time on TPS, and their historical and socioeconomic conditions, creating prolonged instability and increased vulnerability. Central America, in particular, faces persistent challenges stemming from both political violence and frequent natural disasters. Since the 1970s, Central Americans have fled these conflicts and entered the U.S., with their numbers rapidly rising in the two decades prior to TPS designation (Gutiérrez, 2004). These immigrants lived and worked in the U.S., sending large amounts of remittances home during this time (Orrenius & Zavodny, 2014). In 1998, Hurricane Mitch devastated Honduras and Nicaragua, causing widespread displacement, infrastructure destruction, and economic setbacks. The devastation led the U.S. government to grant TPS designation to those nationals residing in the U.S. before December 30th, 1998 (Ishizawa & Miranda, 2016). Similarly, in 2001, El Salvador experienced a series of significant earthquakes that exacerbated an already fragile post-civil war society, prompting the government to extend protection to Salvadoran nationals as well (Wasem & Ester, 2008). Unlike purely economic migrants, TPS recipients from these countries were driven to immigrate by a conflux of extraordinary circumstances, including war, natural disasters, and chronic poverty.

Since acquiring TPS, these migrants have participated in the U.S. economy for over two decades. Currently, their labor force participation rates are well above the rate for the total U.S. population (80-88%), with many of these recipients working in construction, restaurant/food services, landscaping services, child daycare services, and grocery stores (Wasem & Ester, 2008). These immigrants are key members of our society and have become parents to around 270,000 U.S. citizens (Warren & Kerwin, 2017). Many critics of TPS argue that a path toward permanent legalization should be afforded to long-term recipients. Critics of the program argue that it "traps" beneficiaries in legal limbo, barring them from public benefits and adjusting to legal permanent status (Warren & Kerwin, 2017).

1.2 Amnesty and Legalization Programs: Impacts on Social Assimilation and Economic Advancement

Past literature has sought to answer whether legalization can serve as an effective policy tool to address the challenges associated with undocumented migration and efficiently capitalize on the labor contributions of immigrants. Empirical work has established that immigration policy has far-reaching effects on the labor market. Such studies have analyzed the effect of amnesty on natives, going as far as to examine how the influx of immigrants after Hurricane Mitch affected native labor outcomes (Kugler & Yuksel, 2008). Other studies have investigated the effect of legalization programs on Hispanic legal individuals who might be perceived as undocumented (Bansak, 2005). Recent literature seeks to discover amnesty programs' effect on previously undocumented immigrants by focusing on their influence on labor market outcomes for those who are eligible. This strain of literature operates with the theoretical framework that illegal status suppresses employment opportunities and returns on human capital, and yields poor skillset-matching outcomes while restricting occupational choices, granting employers monopsonistic power. Past research has primarily established the impact of legalization through amnesty programs and consistently proven that gaining legal status facilitates economic advancement and social assimilation ¹

Lacking legal status limits job opportunities due to discrimination, employer fear of apprehension, and low returns to human capital (Amuedo-Dorantes & Bansak, 2007). Even after accounting for measured differences with legal immigrants, undocumented workers often find themselves in lower-paying jobs, extorted, and with a limited range of upward mobility (Rivera-Batiz, 1999). Research on legalization policies for undocumented immigrants has primarily focused on permanent annesty programs, each with distinct characteristics that influence labor market outcomes. Studies on programs that affect Salvadorans, Nicaraguans, and Hondurans focus on the 1986 Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA) and the 1997 Nicaraguan Adjustment and Central American Relief Act (NACARA). They find that these policies provide a pathway to regularized employment, harbor significant changes in labor market outcomes, and lead to meaningful socioeconomic gains². These include transitioning from informal employment to formal, higher-paying jobs, changes in labor force participation rates, closing the wage penalty, and changing employment rates. Legalization serves as a mechanism that not only enables economic advancement but also fosters positive change in family planning, civic engagement, and educational hopes (Amuedo-Dorantes & Arenas-Arroy, 2017; Menjívar, 2008; Menjívar et al., 2022).

While such analyses consistently prove that legalization results in higher wages, wage growth, and higher returns to skills and human capital, ³ the effects on employment are theoretically ambiguous and diverging across papers. According to Amuedo-Dorantes et

¹(Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2007; Bahar et al., 2021; Bansak, 2005; Devillanova et al., 2018; Kaushal, 2006; Pan, 2012; Rivera-Batiz, 1999) all study different legalization and amnesty programs and their effects on labor outcomes.

 $^{^2(\}mbox{Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2007}),$ (Kaushal, 2006; Pan, 2012), (Bansak, 2005), (Rivera-Batiz, 1999), (Kossoudji & Cobb-Clark, 2002).

³See (Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2007; Amuedo-Dorantes & Bansak, 2007; Bansak, 2005; Devillanova et al., 2018; Kaushal, 2006; Kossoudji & Cobb-Clark, 2002; Pan, 2012; Rivera-Batiz, 1999).

al. (2007) and Amuedo-Dorantes and Bansak (2011), both newly legalized men and women experience declines in employment levels post-legalization, with men facing higher rates of unemployment and women showing reduced labor force participation. In contrast, Kaushal (2006) observes a statistically insignificant effect on employment, while Pan (2012) identifies a positive impact, but only among female immigrants. Kaushal (2006) does not find a significant effect on hours worked per week. Furthermore, the literature highlights that highly educated immigrants can take advantage of these benefits more significantly.

IRCA is the most extensively studied U.S. amnesty program. Studies on IRCA have consistently shown that the stability associated with permanent legalization drives positive labor outcomes (Amuedo-Dorantes & Bansak, 2007; Bansak, 2005; Kossoudji & Cobb-Clark, 2002; Pan, 2012; Rivera-Batiz, 1999). However, IRCA was one of the most extensive immigration reform programs accompanied by other policy changes that affected a broader set of immigrants from various origin countries⁴. We cannot unconditionally extrapolate its effects to Central American recipients of temporary statuses and amnesty programs. NACARA offered specific protections to Central American immigrants, allowing eligible individuals to adjust to permanent resident status. Furthermore, the program applied to a smaller set of immigrants and did not alter the labor supply to the extent of IRCA. Being able to isolate the effect of amnesty better, Kaushal's study (2006) found that this form of legalization improves wages and facilitates economic mobility, but limits his research to men.

1.3 The Unique Nature of TPS: Temporary Legal Status and Liminal Legality

Temporary Protected Status operates differently from IRCA, NACARA, and other legalization programs. TPS does not offer a pathway to permanent residency and is subject to frequent administrative hurdles, cycles of confusing information, and the uncertainty of discretionary renewal without any promise of eventual citizenship or permanent legal status (Wasem & Ester, 2008). This temporary nature introduces a state of "liminal legality," a

⁴IRCA resulted in around 2.8 million immigrants gaining status (Kaushal, 2006). Its stipulations included sanctions for employers who hired undocumented workers, stronger border security, and a continuous presence requirement unrelated to humanitarian grounds.

term coined by Cecilia Menjívar⁵ to describe the precarious and uncertain legal position of individuals who are neither fully undocumented nor permanently legal. Menjívar argues that permanent legal status can create a class of immigrants with diverging rights and freedoms from those holding temporary status; these immigrants "have such different experiences that they can be regarded as two different social classes" (2022). The liminal legality of TPS creates a situation where recipients face significant limitations in their ability to plan for the future, invest in long-term goals, or fully integrate into U.S. society. This status is neither a bridge to permanent residency nor a clear path to eventual citizenship. Instead, it is a flimsy arrangement that leaves TPS recipients susceptible to policy changes and volatility that could change their status overnight, rendering them victims to a stagnant social and economic evolution. According to Menjívar, TPS's temporary status discourages recipients from long-term commitments, such as pursuing higher education or specialized training that requires them to trust they will be able to remain in the country. This class of immigrants is vulnerable to industries that seek to exploit the chaos of their status and political debates about the value of their presence ⁶.

The transient nature of TPS also makes it a subject of frequent political debate and more sensitive to shifts in immigration rhetoric based on the federal administration. The executive branch makes decisions about TPS designations and extensions, often influenced by political dynamics and shifting foreign policy objectives (Pierce & Selee, 2017). Over time, different administrations have added or removed countries from TPS eligibility based on varying criteria, sometimes under significant political pressure. For example, the Trump administration attempted to terminate TPS designations for several countries, including El Salvador and Honduras, arguing that conditions in those countries had improved enough for recipients to return (Pierce & Selee, 2017). Conversely, the Biden administration extended TPS protections for specific groups and added new designations (USCIS, 2024).

The lack of continuity, stress, and constant risk of revocation underscores the precarious-

 $^{^{5}}$ (Menjívar et al., 2022) characterizes this as a gray area between legal statuses that affects the individual's social networks and family, the role of the church in immigrants' lives, and the broader domain of artistic expression.

⁶Some unauthorized individuals take advantage of people filing TPS, claiming they can file forms for a fee. A large industry has developed around the seasons when these documents must be filed (*Common Scams* — *USCIS*, 2023), (Cecilia Menjívar & Menjívar, 2006).

ness of TPS, amplifying the liminal legality that recipients experience and creating unique economic pressures and social barriers. Considering all this, we cannot assume that the mobility facilitated by legalization and amnesty programs is translated to TPS beneficiaries. This state of liminal legality can hinder recipients' ability to adapt their labor market behavior. Recipients might not reap the benefits of legalization if they fear a lack of permanence or security in their decisions.

On the other hand, other scholars propose that even the *prospect* of legalization can significantly influence undocumented immigrants' employment behaviors, especially when they perceive a real chance of gaining stable legal status (Devillanova et al., 2018); (Bansak, 2005). Orrenius and Zavodny (2014) argue that even a minimal, temporary legal status can benefit migrants. TPS may increase employment opportunities for beneficiaries, as some employers are reluctant to hire unauthorized workers. Access to legal employment could also increase wages by allowing TPS holders to transition into better-paying jobs or eliminating wage penalties because employers may pass on the risk of fines for hiring them. Additionally, competition for low-skill jobs among undocumented immigrants may depress wages in those sectors.

Moreover, TPS may alter recipients' work incentives. With protection from deportation, beneficiaries might feel less financial pressure, leading some to reduce their working hours or delay returning home. At the same time, those with greater financial obligations to family members abroad might work more to support them. Unlike other immigration programs, TPS does not expand eligibility for most public benefits, meaning that its impact on labor supply is unlikely to stem from access to welfare programs. However, TPS beneficiaries may qualify for unemployment insurance, which could also influence their workforce participation decisions.

1.4 Research Problem and Core Question

Studying the labor market impacts of TPS is crucial because it addresses a significant gap in the literature on legalization policies for undocumented immigrants, especially regarding temporary protections. The results of these studies do not fully capture the unique challenges and outcomes brought by liminal legality and the circumstances of Central American countries of origin. These varied findings with NACARA and IRCA suggest that the structure of each amnesty program, including its eligibility requirements, target demographics, and permanence, shapes labor market outcomes.

Recent studies have attempted to address this gap in understanding the unique effects of TPS and have found mixed results. Orrenius and Zavodny (2014) provided one of the earliest analyses of TPS's labor market impacts, focusing solely on Salvadoran immigrants. They found less educated men see earnings gains by accessing higher-paying jobs despite slight employment declines; less educated women experienced increased employment and labor participation without earnings growth, more educated men were more likely to be in the labor force and work in higher-paying occupations without changes in employment, weekly hours, or annual weeks worked. More educated women achieved higher earnings through better job opportunities without significant shifts in employment or participation. This study underscored that even a reprieve from deportation and permission to work can improve labor outcomes in the short term. This study only focused on Salvadorans arriving a year before designation (1999-2000) compared to those arriving a year after TPS designation, studying their outcomes in 2005. Bahar et al. (2021)⁷ studied a similar temporary amnesty program in Colombia and did not find evidence of short-term benefits for beneficiaries.

Harris and Jerch (2024) extended this line of research by analyzing the long-term effects of TPS on Salvadorans over 20 years. Their findings suggest that TPS enabled substantial improvements in income, wages, workforce participation, and employment for Salvadorans, which were more pronounced among recipients with higher education levels. They found positive and significant effects for men and women for all main outcomes. A survey study by Cecilia Menjívar (2017) confirms these positive effects in the long term.

Amuedo-Dorantes et al. (2023) sought to expand insights beyond El Salvador into the labor outcomes of Haitian and Honduran migrants in the first decade after receiving TPS, finding notable differences between the groups. The study revealed that TPS improved labor outcomes, household earnings, and poverty exposure for Haitian immigrants. In contrast, the program shows little to no effect on Honduran immigrants' outcomes, suggesting het-

⁷No significant changes were observed in wages, hours worked, or labor force participation across the formal and informal sectors, suggesting a limited short-term impact of the program (Bahar et al., 2021).

erogeneity in its impact based on nationality⁸. "Less-educated Haitians gathered the largest gains... among Hondurans, only more-educated women appear to have marginally benefited, pointing to the relevance of human capital for this group" (Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2023). Despite some parallels—both groups comprise low-education, low-income populations who have faced significant displacement due to natural disasters and political turmoil—their labor market trajectories under TPS differ starkly. These findings introduce the possibility that TPS benefits do not uniformly translate across nationalities considered to be similar or demographic groups. Actually, they may vary significantly across countries within the same region, despite being treated as homogeneous groups by the U.S.

1.5 The Study's Unique Contribution

This study explores differences in TPS' effects by examining Nicaragua, Honduras, and El Salvador to uncover whether shared regional characteristics lead to similar labor market outcomes or if heterogeneity exists after TPS designation. No study has compared these three countries before. Hammill (2007) highlights that Nicaragua and Honduras have consistently lower GDP per capita and higher economic inequality than El Salvador, possibly influencing how TPS recipients from those countries differ in their labor market advantages ⁹.

The literature emphasizes the disproportionate effects of natural disasters on Nicaragua and Honduras, leading to long-term economic stagnation and heightened poverty rates (Ishizawa & Miranda, 2016). As TPS-eligible individuals migrated to the U.S. in the decades before TPS in response to war, poverty, and the disasters' devastation, their particular situations at home differentiate them. Individuals from different nationalities may have faced unique challenges that influenced their ability to benefit from TPS, contributing to potential heterogeneity in labor market outcomes among beneficiaries from these countries. Warren and Kerwin (2017) provide a demographic lens of possible differences in the U.S. across TPS recipients. Median household income is \$50,000 for Salvadorans but only \$40,000 for

 $^{^{8}(\}mbox{Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2023})$ suggest these disparities can be attributed to differences in linguistic assimilation.

⁹In 2007, El Salvador and Guatemala's incomes were around US\$ 2,100 and US\$ 1,700 respectively. The countries trailing furthest behind in per capita incomes were Honduras and Nicaragua with around US\$ 960 and US\$ 810, respectively.

Hondurans, despite both groups having a high labor force participation rate, suggesting that more than TPS eligibility could influence labor market outcomes, pointing to underlying structural factors. According to a study measuring which factors drove U.S. migration, Nicaraguans were more educated on average and could translate their human capital to higher-skilled U.S. occupations (Vurgun, 2022).

TPS might affect Salvadorans, Nicaraguans, and Hondurans differently due to variations in migration history and network effects that create different social contexts to which they arrive. Salvadorans have a larger pre-existing diaspora in the U.S. due to the prolonged civil war (1980–1992) and related economic instability, which created robust migration networks (Gutiérrez, 2004). Nicaragua also benefited from NACARA in earlier years; even those not eligible for it but eligible for TPS may have benefited from immigrant network effects ¹⁰. Language proficiency might play a role in differentiating how nationalities are able to benefit from legalization. Further, as discussed above, immigration policies are consistently proven to have heterogeneous effects across sex and education levels. The study, therefore, seeks to determine whether these differences persist and are heterogeneous across countries.

The policy implications are clear: TPS was intended to provide short-term benefits and protection, demonstrating its potential as a tool for economic mobility. Yet, it has limitations, such as its temporary nature, administrative hurdles, and legal precarity. Given its goal to provide temporary relief for vulnerable populations, policymakers need to understand whether it truly fulfills its objectives to evaluate the efficiency and continued use of such immigration policies. Despite literature suggesting that having legal status allows people from El Salvador to advance in the workforce, TPS covers diverse recipients. U.S. immigration policy often treats beneficiaries from Latin America as a uniform group without accounting for how historical, cultural, and economic differences might influence the policy's outcomes. This "one-size-fits-all" approach can lead to inefficiencies and missed opportunities to tailor support mechanisms. Early evidence of TPS's effectiveness allows for a timely assessment of whether the policy promotes wage growth or other economic outcomes, and whether it achieves these goals equitably across groups. The core assumption behind TPS was that it

¹⁰Migration network theory posits that established migrants reduce barriers for new arrivals by sharing information on job opportunities, housing, and migration logistics.

would provide short-term relief before recipients returned to their home countries or found alternative legal pathways. If TPS failed to improve labor outcomes early on, this suggests it failed as a temporary economic stabilizer and challenges the notion that minimal, shortterm status is enough to help migrants achieve significant economic gains. If, however, TPS significantly boosted labor outcomes in the first five years, it would justify its continued use as an economic mobility tool for displaced populations (Wasem & Ester, 2008). Policymakers should consider the effectiveness of this temporary program in its current structure and make adjustments to TPS or similar future policies to enhance their ability to foster socioeconomic stability for people who cannot return to their nation of origin. If certain countries and groups benefit significantly while others miss out, is TPS truly achieving its goals?

Unlike previous studies, which focus on the long term, this paper examines the impact of TPS from 2002 to 2007. Other papers limit their analysis to migrants arriving one year before TPS designation for El Salvador; this paper seeks to understand the effectiveness of TPS for migrants arriving three years before its implementation, circumventing eligibility for other policies. No study has examined the effects of TPS on Nicaragua.

2 Method

2.1 Data and Sample

This study uses individual-level data from the 2002-2007 American Community Survey provided by IPUMS to examine labor market outcomes among likely TPS beneficiaries from El Salvador, Honduras, and Nicaragua. The ACS is a large, cross-sectional, nationally representative sample of U.S. residents collected throughout the year from about 3.5 million addresses. The survey asks questions regarding labor market outcomes, place of birth, naturalization status, year of entry into the United States, personal and household income, education, language spoken at home, access to personal vehicles, and homeownership-among other demographic and occupational questions. Each survey year samples different households. By leveraging the ACS, this study captures detailed outcomes for immigrants during the relevant post-TPS periods and constructs entry cohorts to compare TPS-eligible and ineligible groups.

It is important to note that my dataset begins in the post-treatment period since no pretreatment data is available. This means that my study conducts the analysis using only information collected after TPS was implemented (discussed further in the methodology section). The decision to begin the analysis in 2002 reflects the availability and consistency of ACS data. Before 2002, the ACS was not a fully implemented nationwide survey. Furthermore, using ACS data a few years after TPS implementation offers the advantage of capturing the immediate post-adjustment period when TPS was intended to be effective. Since the study focuses on a particular group (Central American immigrants who immigrated in specific years), using data from multiple ACS years helps address sampling inconsistencies and improves the reliability of results by increasing the sample size, reducing random sampling fluctuations, and capturing a broader and more stable sample of immigrants over time.

My analysis focuses on immigrants from El Salvador, Honduras, and Nicaragua between the ages of 18 and 64 who are likely undocumented and, therefore, would have been eligible for TPS at the time. I follow (Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2023), (Harris & Jerch, 2024), and (Orrenius & Zavodny, 2014) in determining a respondent's legal status based on their observable characteristics: non-citizens, have a high school diploma or less, and speak Spanish at home ¹¹, since the ACS does not ask people about their particular immigration status. The Migration Policy Institute (2019) estimates that only 7% of unauthorized immigrants speak English at home (72% speak Spanish at home), and around 70% of unauthorized immigrants have a high school diploma or less. Orrenius and Zavodny (2014) use the Department of Homeland Security estimates of unauthorized Salvadorans and the U.S. Census to estimate that more than half of Salvadoran immigrants were unauthorized before TPS designation. Following this method, I find similar results for Nicaragua and Honduras¹². Therefore, most immigrants in my selected sample would be eligible for TPS, contingent on their year of im-

¹¹(Amuedo-Dorantes et al., 2023), (Harris & Jerch, 2024), and (Orrenius & Zavodny, 2014) all use proxies to estimate legal status and likely TPS-eligibility.

¹²Based on 2000 figures from the U.S. Census (217,569 total Hondurans) (Guzman, 2000), and the Department of Homeland Security (160,000 undocumented Hondurans) (Baker, 2007), we can reasonably assume that in 1998, with a slightly smaller total population (estimated 200,000–210,000), at least half—and likely a significant majority—of the Honduran population was undocumented. A similar proportion can be assumed for Nicaragua, given their migration patterns and U.S immigration policy eligibility.

migration. My sample includes migrants who arrived in the United States within a three-year period before and after TPS designation for each respective country. I chose a three-year window to circumvent eligibility for other programs while still maximizing the sample size (avoiding small sample bias) and capturing a more representative sample. Those arriving before TPS cutoff dates are considered TPS-eligible, and those from the same country of origin arriving in the three-year window after are not TPS-eligible. This framework allows us to compare outcomes between TPS-eligible and non-TPS-eligible cohorts from the same country. Below, I provide a summary of the dates associated with TPS eligibility for each designated country in the sample:

- Nicaraguans: Entered between 1996–1998 (TPS-eligible), compared to those entering between 1999–2001 (non-TPS-eligible).
- Hondurans: Entered between 1996–1998 (TPS-eligible), compared to those entering between 1999–2001 (non-TPS-eligible).
- Salvadorans: Entered between 1998–2000 (TPS-eligible), compared to those entering between 2002–2004 (non-TPS-eligible). I exclude immigrants arriving in 2001 since it is unclear if they immigrated early enough to be TPS-eligible.

In addition to comparing entry cohorts within each TPS-designated country, we include likely undocumented Mexican migrants entering during the same periods as an external control group. Mexicans were likely undocumented and entered during the same time frames, but are ineligible for TPS because the program does not apply to Mexico. This external control accounts for broader labor market trends that might affect all low-skilled migrants during these periods, such as economic cycles, immigration enforcement changes, or regional shocks.

2.2 Methodology

2.2.1 Regression Equation

This study employs a modified Difference-in-Differences (DiD) framework to estimate the causal effect of TPS on the labor market outcomes of likely beneficiaries. Unlike traditional DiD approaches, which compare outcomes across pre- and post-treatment periods, this framework uses entry cohorts as proxies for pre- and post-treatment groups. The DiD regression model is as follows:

$$Y_{ict} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{TPS_ELIGIBLE}_{ict} + \beta_2 \text{ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG}_{ict} + \beta_3 (\text{TPS_ELIGIBLE}_{ict} \times \text{ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG}_{ict}) + X_{ict}\Gamma + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ict}$$
(1)

 Y_{ict} is one of several labor market outcomes for individual *i*, from country *c*, in year *t*. $TPS_ELIGIBLE_{ict}$ is a binary variable equal to 1 if the individual is from a TPS-eligible country regardless of arrival year (e.g., Nicaragua, Honduras, or El Salvador) and 0 if from Mexico. This variable captures the average difference in outcomes between TPS recipient countries and Mexican migrants. $ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG_{ict}$ is a binary variable equal to 1 if the individual entered the U.S. during the relevant pre-treatment window. This variable captures the average difference in outcomes between earlier pre-TPS arrivals and post-TPS arrivals across all groups. The interaction term is the DiD variable that captures the treatment effect of TPS by measuring how the outcomes of TPS-eligible individuals differ from those not TPS-eligible from the same country, compared with the same difference among Mexican migrants. In this setup, the treatment group is migrants from Honduras, Nicaragua, or El Salvador who arrived within the three-year pre-TPS eligibility window. The control groups are Mexican migrants arriving in the same period (never eligible for TPS) and migrants from the same TPS-eligible countries who arrived after the cutoff (not eligible for TPS). X_{ict} represents a vector of individual-level characteristics that could affect labor market outcomes (age at treatment, marital status, sex, education level, gender, and years in the U.S.). λ_t are year-fixed effects to control for macroeconomic shocks, and ϵ_{ict} is the error term.

This approach is an adjustment to lacking pre-treatment data. Rather than comparing outcomes before and after TPS designation, this approach leverages differences between migrants who arrived just before TPS eligibility and those who arrived just after. This setup allows us to examine whether TPS eligibility affected labor market outcomes by comparing groups similar in origin and characteristics but that did not both benefit from TPS. However, comparing only earlier and later arrivals from TPS-designated countries could introduce bias if labor outcomes naturally differed across cohorts for reasons unrelated to TPS (i.e., changing labor market conditions or changing migration trends). Including Mexican migrants lets us control for general labor market conditions that affected all migrants during those years as a stable comparison group. The key interaction term in the regression measures whether the difference between early and late arrivals is larger for TPS-eligible individuals than for Mexican migrants. If TPS had a positive impact, we would expect TPS-eligible early arrivals to experience greater improvements in employment, wages, and hours worked compared to their late-arrival counterparts, and this difference should be larger than the comparable difference among Mexican migrants. Like in typical DID models with pre-treatment data, we still have two levels of differences capturing a relative effect: how much more an outcome changes for the treated group.

The basic regression controls for sex (male or female), marriage status (married/ not married), education (high school diploma vs. not completed), and years in the U.S. as a key predictor of labor market integration. Since TPS is a treatment with a fixed implementation time, I control how old individuals are when TPS becomes available. Age at treatment is used instead of age because it anchors individuals to their age when TPS was granted. This approach prevents bias time-varying age effects and allows for a more stable interpretation of how TPS impacts labor outcomes. This mitigates age's multicollinearity with survey year and immigration year. Further, the regression uses normalized person weights to ensure that observations contribute proportionally without distorting coefficient magnitudes, maintaining representativeness while improving estimation stability. Year-fixed effects control for macroeconomic shocks and policy changes that affect all migrants. State-fixed effects are omitted because the sample is highly concentrated in a few states, leading to multicollinearity issues and unstable estimates. Instead of clustering standard errors, I use HC3 robust standard errors, which provide valid inference even with smaller sample sizes. Given that the sample is concentrated in a few states, clustering at the state-year level would not add much correction. I also avoid the downward bias that arises when the number of clusters is too small for reliable variance estimation. Therefore, using HC3 and normalized weights controls for heteroskedasticity and maintains representativeness.

I run the basic regression (1) for all individuals from each country and then run separate regressions in data subsets of only men or only women by education level¹³. I then run an extended model that includes interaction terms with DID (the interaction between $TPS_ELIGIBLE_{ict}$ and $ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG_{ict}$) capturing gender differences and differential TPS effects by education level. The model also controls for the interaction between TPS treatment and age at treatment to account for potential age-based heterogeneity. The extended model allows for heterogeneous treatment effects by interacting the DiD variable with these key variables.

$$Y_{ict} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{TPS_ELIGIBLE}_{ict} + \beta_2 \text{ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG}_{ict} + \beta_3 \text{DID}_{ict} + \beta_4 \text{DID_SEX}_{ict} + \beta_5 \text{DID_EDUC}_{ict} + \beta_6 \text{DID_SEX_EDUC}_{ict} + \beta_7 \text{DID_AAT}_{ict} + X_{ict}\Gamma + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ict}$$
(2)

The extended model (2) is used in separate regressions for all individuals from El Salvador, Honduras, or Nicaragua.

¹³An alternative specification, which estimated the extended model separately for men and women but excluded the sex interaction term (DID_SEX), produced largely insignificant results. These regressions are presented in the appendix for reference, but due to their structural differences from the main models, they should not be directly compared to the DID_SEX coefficient in the full extended model.

2.2.2 Key Assumptions

Several assumptions must hold to ensure valid identification of TPS's effect on labor outcomes. First, cohorts within groups must be comparable. The model assumes that absent TPS, the difference in outcomes between earlier and more recent migrants from TPS-eligible countries would be the same as the corresponding difference among Mexican migrants. In the absence of TPS, labor outcomes for non-TPS-eligible migrants would have followed similar trends to TPS-eligible migrants because they are subject to the same external labor market conditions and treatment in the U.S. Since I am comparing earlier and later cohorts within TPS-eligible countries (and within Mexicans), the two cohorts must be similar enough for valid inference. Earlier and later cohorts within TPS-eligible countries must differ primarily in their eligibility for TPS, not in their inherent characteristics. Cohorts of late-arriving and early arriving Mexican migrants must also be similar to each other. We conduct normalized differences balancing tests (3) among these groups and find that the cohorts are not significantly different in key demographic and labor market characteristics, such as age, education, gender distribution, marriage status distribution, income, and home ownership.

$$\Delta = \frac{\bar{X}_T - \bar{X}_C}{\sqrt{\frac{s_T^2 + s_C^2}{2}}} \tag{3}$$

Although post-TPS migrants may differ in characteristics due to the circumstances that triggered TPS (such as natural disasters), this distinction is unlikely to bias the treatment effect because, once in the U.S., all migrants face the same labor market conditions. The model assumes that differences in labor outcomes are driven by TPS eligibility itself rather than differences in migration motives, as all individuals must navigate the same structural barriers to employment. The natural disasters did not affect the trend of outcomes in the labor market in the U.S. Another key assumption is that valid counterfactuals must exist. The model assumes that early-arriving Mexicans' labor market outcomes represent what TPS-eligible individuals would have experienced without TPS. TPS-eligible individuals and Mexicans must face the same external labor market forces (e.g., economic shocks, immigration policy, discrimination) that could influence outcomes. While pre-TPS equivalence cannot be confirmed directly, I validate this assumption indirectly by conducting normalized differences balancing tests comparing the characteristics of TPS-eligible migrants from TPS-designated countries to similarly defined Mexican migrants. These tests, repeated for late-arriving migrants, reveal no significant differences and support the comparability of these groups. Additionally, I conduct an event study analysis to examine if labor market outcomes evolved similarly for post-TPS arrivals from TPS-eligible countries and Mexico, estimating year-by-year deviations relative to a 2002 reference year. The studies show that both groups follow similar trends in the survey for most (but not all) outcomes across TPS countries. The reliability of these findings is limited by compositional changes of the ACS, which did not include individuals from every TPS-eligible and non-eligible immigration year in every survey year. Since the composition of observed cohorts varies from year-to-year, the event studies face biases in accurately displaying trends over time. Finally, Mexicans are largely concentrated in the same industries and states as TPS beneficiaries, strengthening the assumption that they operate in comparable labor markets and reinforcing their suitability as a control group.

The model structure requires that the effect of time in the U.S. be controlled since people immigrating in TPS-eligible years have lived in the country longer, potentially biasing their comparability with newer migrants. The no anticipation assumption holds because TPS was granted in response to exogenous shocks and migrants could not have strategically altered their arrival timing to gain eligibility. Last, the model assumes that spillover effects are of second-order importance and that the basic and extended models inherently capture shared economic shocks that affect both TPS-eligible and non-eligible individuals.

2.3 Robustness Checks

To ensure the validity of the basic model estimates and confirm that unobserved labor market trends do not drive the observed effects of TPS eligibility, I conduct two robustness checks: a placebo test and a Guatemala-Mexico comparison.

The placebo test assigns random TPS eligibility to a cohort that should not have received it: 1996 for Salvadorans and 1994 for Hondurans and Nicaraguans. Then, it re-estimates the basic model to assess if the difference in labor market trends between treated and control groups (Salvadoran/Honduran/Nicaraguan migrants vs. Mexican migrants) is due to TPS and not some unrelated factor. If TPS is not affecting labor outcomes, then the placebo DiD coefficient (the interaction term between being from an eligible country and immigrating in eligible years) should still show a significant effect because some other unobserved factor must be driving the results. The placebo DID coefficients are statistically insignificant across all labor market outcomes for all designated countries. This strengthens the parallel trends assumption and supports the validity of the control group selection.

To further assess the validity of the Mexican migrant comparison group and the reliability of our main results, I conducted an additional DiD analysis using Guatemalan migrants as the treatment group and Mexican migrants as the control. Due to shared economic and migration patterns, Guatemalan immigrants are similar to Salvadorans, Nicaraguans and Hondurans, but were never granted TPS. I further verify the comparability of the treatment countries and Guatemala by running normalized differences balance tests. Outcomes that contrast Mexicans with Guatemalans can reveal if any atypical trends among Mexican migrants or in the labor market might explain our findings. The Guatemalan DiD coefficients are statistically insignificant across all outcomes.

Together, these robustness checks provide strong support for the reliability of the main findings, confirming that TPS eligibility had a significant impact on labor market outcomes and that external labor market forces or selection bias do not drive these effects.

3 Results

3.1 General Sample Results

The analysis examines several labor market outcomes to assess the impact of TPS eligibility. Employment is a binary indicator of whether an individual was employed. Labor force participation is a binary variable indicating whether an individual was active in the labor force. Weekly hours worked captures the number of hours a respondent usually worked per week if they reported working in the previous year. Income represents a respondent's total pre-tax personal income in a year, while wages represent pre-tax wage and salary income (money received as an employee). Both are shown in logarithmic form and adjusted for inflation. All outcomes, except labor force participation, are conditional on being in the labor force.

To properly interpret these results, it's important to understand that all effects are measured as relative differences that isolate the causal impact of TPS eligibility. The results focus on three main coefficients: DID, DID_SEX, and DID_EDUC. The DID coefficient comes from the basic model (1). It represents the average treatment effect of TPS eligibility across all eligible individuals from a given country without distinguishing between gender or education groups. DID is constructed as the interaction between a dummy variable for being from a treatment country and a dummy for immigrating in the TPS-eligible period. A positive DID coefficient indicates that TPS-eligible individuals benefited more from TPS relative to noneligible individuals, beyond general labor market trends observed among Mexican migrants. Conversely, a negative DID coefficient suggests that TPS-eligible individuals benefited less (or were more negatively impacted) compared to their non-eligible counterparts. In contrast, the extended model (2) introduces interaction terms to capture heterogeneity in TPS effects across gender (DID_SEX) and education (DID_EDUC), capturing if TPS benefits were distributed unevenly across subpopulations. The DID_SEX coefficient measures how much more (or less) TPS affected women relative to men rather than an absolute effect of TPS on women. Similarly, the DID_EDUC coefficient captures how TPS effects differ between high school graduates and non-graduates. Since the extended model introduces additional interaction terms, the DiD coefficient in the basic model cannot be directly compared to the DiD coefficient in the extended model.

The DID coefficient, which measures the overall effect of TPS eligibility, is statistically significant only in El Salvador. TPS eligibility is associated with a 9.3% increase in wages and a 10% increase in total income for Salvadorans relative to their ineligible counterparts, beyond the changes observed among Mexican migrants. For Honduras and Nicaragua, the DID coefficients are statistically insignificant, providing evidence that TPS eligibility did not have a clear overall effect on these groups.

In the extended model, the DID_SEX coefficient indicates that TPS had a differential effect on hours worked between men and women. In El Salvador, the TPS effect on hours worked for women differed from that for men by 1.3 hours, and in Nicaragua, by 4.58 hours.

However, this does not imply that women necessarily increased their hours worked. It only tells us that the TPS effect on hours worked was more positive (or less negative) for women compared to men. For example, this difference could arise if TPS led to a decrease in men's hours worked while women's hours remained unchanged or if men's hours declined more than women's. Similarly, a positive DID_SEX coefficient could reflect cases where both men and women increased their hours, but women's increase was larger. The coefficient only captures the relative difference in the TPS effect between genders, not the absolute impact on women's hours worked. In Honduras, a positive DID_SEX coefficient of 5.2 for labor force participation relative to men's. However, this does not indicate whether women's participation increased in absolute terms—it only tells us that women were affected differently than men. This relative difference could result from women's labor force participation increasing more than men's or from women's participation declining less than men's after TPS. Additionally, TPS had a weaker employment effect for high school graduates in El Salvador, who experienced a 5.1 percentage point difference in El Salvador, who experienced

3.2 Gender Subsets Results

To further examine gender differences in the effect of TPS, the study estimates separate regressions for men and women by education level using the basic model (1), reporting only the DiD coefficient for each country. These coefficients capture the overall effect of TPS on each group without interaction terms. Unlike DID_SEX, the coefficient reflects the within-group impact of TPS eligibility for each gender by each education level. The subset regressions demonstrate that TPS effects varied significantly across countries, gender, and education levels. I also ran the basic model for subsets of men and women (not delineated by education), but these results are only included in the appendix.

In El Salvador, TPS eligibility caused more educated men to benefit 5 percentage points less in employment compared to both non-eligible Salvadorans and the baseline Mexican immigrant trend. Less educated Salvadorans experienced a 6.5 percentage point positive effect on employment beyond any changes observed in the control groups. Meanwhile, more educated Salvadoran women worked 4.77 fewer hours per week due to eligibility for TPS, beyond any shifts seen in the control groups. In Honduras, there was evidence that TPS eligibility produced economic benefits for less educated men, causing a 14.9% positive relative effect in wages, a 15.5% in income, and a 3.4 percentage point higher labor force participation rate compared to both non-eligible Hondurans and the Mexican immigrant baseline. For Nicaragua, the only statistically significant impact was among more educated men: TPS eligibility caused a 6.5 percentage point greater labor force participation relative to both non-eligible Nicaraguans and Mexican immigrants.

Due to the different model specifications, the gender-specific regression results cannot be directly compared with the DID_SEX coefficient from the full model. However, both analytical approaches consistently demonstrate heterogeneous TPS effects across education and gender groups.

Panel (A) El Salvador						
Employment Wages Income Hours Worked Labor Force Participati						
DID	0.005	0.100*	0.093*	-0.313	0.011	
	(0.012)	(0.54)	(0.052)	(0.496)	(0.010)	
DID_SEX	0.024	0.084	0.054	1.300^{*}	0.025	
	(0.015)	(0.087)	(0.087)	(0.680)	(0.020)	
DID_EDUC	-0.051**	-0.042	-0.053	-0.022	0.005	
	(0.022)	(0.060)	(0.061)	(0.584)	(0.011)	
		Р	anel (B)	Honduras		
	Labor Force Participation					
DID	0.004	-0.016	0.027	0.136	0.013	
	(0.015)	(0.062)	(0.050)	(0.593)	(0.015)	
DID_SEX	0.004	-0.301	-0.103	-1.104	0.052^{*}	
	(0.039)	(0.222)	(0.118)	(1.251)	(0.027)	
DID_EDUC	0.011	-0.036	-0.038	-0.657	-0.046	
	(0.019)	(0.083)	(0.084)	(1.354)	(0.031)	
		Pa	anel (C)	Nicaragua		
	Employment	Wages	Income	Hours Worked	Labor Force Participation	
DID	-0.015	0.173	0.161	0.486	0.01	
	(0.039)	(0.123)	(0.121)	(1.548)	(0.034)	
DID_SEX	0.087	0.240	0.240	4.583**	-0.025	
	(0.054)	(0.149)	(0.151)	(1.861)	(0.190)	
DID_EDUC	-0.089	0.098	0.119	4.036	0.094	
	(0.111)	(0.177)	(0.174)	(2.951)	(0.075)	

Table 1: Difference-in-Differences (DID) Estimates by Country

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses.

* p<0.1; ** p<0.05; *** p<0.01.

The table displays the DID coefficient of the basic Difference-in-Differences (DiD) specification model on the labor market effects of TPS eligibility for all individuals from each designated country. The DID coefficient is the interaction of being from a TPS-eligible country and immigrating to the U.S in an eligible year. It comes from a baseline Difference-in-Differences (DiD) regression that controls for age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the U.S. In contrast, the DID_SEX and DID_EDUC coefficients come from an extended model and are the interactions terms between DID and a dummy for gender or a dummy for having a highschool diploma. The capture differential effects by gender (DID_SEX) and education level (DID_EDUC). The model also controls for the interaction between DID and age at treatment (DID_AAT) to account for potential age-based heterogeneity, but these results are not reported. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity-robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

	High School Diploma		No High School Diploma		
	Men	Women	Men	Women	
Panel A: El Salvador					
Employed	-0.050^{**} (0.024)	-0.017 (0.033)	$0.015 \\ (0.016)$	0.065^{**} (0.033)	
Wages	$0.111 \\ (0.099)$	-0.227 (0.140)	0.121 (0.077)	$0.158 \\ (0.157)$	
Income	$0.103 \\ (0.099)$	-0.218 (0.140)	0.107 (0.072)	$0.166 \\ (0.158)$	
Hours Worked	0.814 (0.665)	-4.777^{**} (1.909)	-0.367 (0.718)	$0.198 \\ (1.385)$	
Labor Force Participation	0.008 (0.015)	$0.039 \\ (0.049)$	0.002 (0.011)	$0.023 \\ (0.035)$	
Panel B: Honduras					
Employed	0.001 (0.018)	0.010 (0.030)	-0.018 (0.019)	$0.053 \\ (0.054)$	
Wages	-0.087 (0.087)	-0.011 (0.169)	0.149^{**} (0.069)	-0.244 (0.232)	
Income	-0.078 (0.089)	-0.026 (0.166)	0.155^{**} (0.069)	-0.040 (0.141)	
Hours Worked	$0.305 \\ (1.355)$	$0.919 \\ (1.855)$	0.448 (0.824)	-1.514 (1.409)	
Labor Force Participation	-0.013 (0.035)	-0.052 (0.051)	0.034^{*} (0.019)	$0.037 \\ (0.042)$	
Panel C: Nicaragua					
Employed	-0.078 (0.089)	$0.030 \\ (0.036)$	$0.009 \\ (0.067)$	$0.001 \\ (0.014)$	
Wages	$0.005 \\ (0.186)$	-0.012 (0.299)	$0.266 \\ (0.207)$	$0.429 \\ (0.269)$	
Income	0.033 (0.182)	-0.020 (0.300)	$0.235 \\ (0.205)$	$0.367 \\ (0.250)$	
Hours Worked	2.658 (2.049)	-1.093 (3.856)	-1.875 (2.831)	$1.137 \\ (2.395)$	
Labor Force Participation	0.065^{*} (0.036)	-0.015 (0.057)	-0.053 (0.069)	-0.039 (0.190)	

Table 2: Difference-in-Differences (DID) Estimates by Country, Gender, and Education Level

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p < 0.1; **p < 0.05; ***p < 0.01.

The tables display the DID coefficient of the basic Difference-in-Differences (DiD) specification model on the labor market effects of TPS eligibility by gender and education level. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the U.S. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

3.3 **Results Discussion**

Two general ideas emerge from the results: the study did not find evidence that TPS had broad and sweeping effects (effects were often small and/or insignificant or inconsistent across countries), which are characterized by heterogeneity. Across and within the three countries, impacts were not broad-based or consistent across groups. There are fundamental differences in how each country's nationals benefit. Although El Salvador shows a general wage effect in the DID model, the lack of consistent or strong effects at the subgroup level suggests the wage effects observed in the general DID model may be driven by a broad but small increase spread across the population, rather than coming from noticeable effects in various subgroups. If TPS had broad economic benefits, we would expect consistent wage or labor market improvements across subgroups or across countries based on the literature.

The study reveals that TPS does not deliver uniform benefits across all Central American immigrants. Instead, TPS creates narrow windows of opportunity that specific demographic groups are positioned to leverage, while others see little or no change. Consistently, the most meaningful effects emerge at the subgroup level, and who and how they benefit depends on the national context. Specifically, different subgroups benefit across different countries, and the same demographic (e.g., less-educated men) may be affected in one country but not another (or see a different outcome if from another country). Several factors can explain this limited impact.

First, eligible people may not take advantage of TPS. The results indicate that administrative hurdles and confusing information might have inhibited access. Immigrants unfamiliar with the confusing process might not apply or lose status, allowing only a few people to fully acquire status. Further, TPS-eligible and non-eligible individuals exhibit high labor
force participation rates; since we assume non-eligible migrants represent what TPS recipients might have faced before TPS, we can deduce that most TPS-eligible migrants were already working, so the policy didn't enact widespread effects by changing their ability to work. Many TPS holders work in the same low-skilled, low-wage industries as non-eligible workers. Industry distributions show that Salvadorans, Hondurans, and Nicaraguans primarily worked in construction, food service, manufacturing, and other sectors with limited upward mobility. TPS's temporary status likely discouraged long-term human capital investments. Migrants may have been reluctant to pursue higher education, specialized training, or change jobs if they were uncertain about their long-term ability to stay in the U.S. Further, the political-economic context of TPS recipients' arrival-one of adverse immigration laws and public reception-might have discouraged them from taking the risk of exposing themselves to USCIS by applying for status and investing in human capital (Menjívar, 2006). These mechanisms suggest that people as a whole did not change their behavior after TPS. Therefore, it could not facilitate sweeping benefits. Only specific groups were directly affected by the policy.

Further, who chooses to apply for TPS might vary systematically across countries and demographics. Salcido and Menjívar (2012) demonstrate how immigration policies, including pathways to legal status, are inherently gendered, reinforcing structural barriers that could have limited women's ability to leverage TPS fully and led to heterogeneous labor market responses, as men and women face distinct challenges in applying for and utilizing temporary legal protections. Women often depend on men during the legalization process and are frequently not the primary petitioners. Laws may appear neutral, but in practice, they reinforce patriarchal norms by privileging male breadwinners and marginalizing women as dependents. Gender dynamics and inequalities may manifest differently across countries, determining which groups benefit or are suppressed in each country. Central American countries have diverging racial compositions and language assimilation to further differentiate them. Therefore, they might be differentially affected by discrimination. Last, the evidence of heterogeneity supports the idea that education and gender are still insufficient to overcome structural barriers. For example, more educated immigrants might face credential recognition issues that TPS doesn't solve.

For groups where we see significance, those effects align with previous literature where various explanations arise. In El Salvador, more educated men experienced a decline in employment, consistent with Kaushal's (2006) findings, which suggest that higher-skilled immigrants may temporarily leave employment after legalization to search for better jobs. More educated Salvadoran men may have struggled to find jobs that matched their credentials post-TPS if they were limited in translating legal status into improved economic outcomes by employers' willingness to hire. More-educated Salvadoran women saw declining hours worked, potentially due to household dynamics. Pan (2012) notes that newly legalized women may reduce their labor supply if household income increases or a partner works more. Alternatively, some women may have transitioned into part-time or informal work while looking for better opportunities, as Kaushal (2006) observed for men. In contrast, less-educated Salvadoran women saw increased employment, suggesting that TPS helped them transition from informal or unstable jobs into more stable employment. Pan (2012)finds that employers were more willing to hire newly legalized women, which may explain this increase. Additionally, Orrenius and Zavodny (2014) suggest that increases in employment for less-educated women could be linked to declining employment among their male counterparts.

The only significant TPS effects in Honduras were for less-educated men, who saw wage increases, income, and labor force participation. This finding is consistent with Kaushal (2006), who suggests that lower-skilled workers may experience immediate wage gains postlegalization as their limited skill sets previously prevented them from accessing and searching for better jobs. Pan (2012) argues that legalization gives workers bargaining power, allowing them to hold out for better jobs rather than accepting unstable, low-paying work. Additionally, Amuedo-Dorantes & Bansak (2011) found that legalization improves wages for those who remain in their jobs, suggesting that some less-educated Honduran men may have stayed in their existing jobs but saw wage increases as employers formalized their employment or reduced the wage penalty. However, these significant effects on Hondurans do not appear in the general DID model, likely due to heterogeneous effects across other groups. While the policy may have positively impacted less-educated Honduran men, its effects were not strong or widespread enough across Honduran subgroups to appear at the aggregate level, reinforcing that only certain groups are prepared to leverage TPS. The only significant effect in Nicaragua was an increase in labor force participation for more educated men. TPS may have encouraged these individuals to re-enter the workforce or search for jobs that better match their skills. Pan (2012) finds that TPS-like programs can increase job-search incentives by providing legal stability, which could explain why more educated Nicaraguans showed increased labor force participation. However, we do not see corresponding gains in employment or wages, suggesting that some of these individuals may have been actively searching for work but were not necessarily securing higher-paying jobs immediately. It is important to interpret the Nicaraguan results cautiously, as the sample sizes for many subgroups are small, often around 50 individuals or fewer. This limited sample size increases standard errors, reduces statistical power (making it more challenging to detect effects), and increases instability in measured effects.

Overall, El Salvador reaped the effects of TPS more broadly. The general model and multiple subgroup regressions show more consistent TPS effects, suggesting broader uptake or stronger network support. In contrast, Honduras and Nicaragua each show gains for only one subgroup. Salvadorans were less educated and had lower income levels. Perhaps they see more benefits because they had more to gain from minimal legalization, or because their networks allowed them to take advantage of TPS. Regardless, their outcomes reinforce that TPS's impact is shaped by national context and demographic composition. Which groups are prepared to take advantage of the policy depends on the unique context of their nationalities.

3.4 Empirical Concerns

This section outlines key empirical challenges that may affect the interpretation of results, including estimation accuracy, model specification, and the limitations of the dataset.

Using HC3 robust standard errors accounts for heteroskedasticity but can inflate standard errors, especially in smaller samples, possibly leading to type two errors (false negatives). For Nicaragua, multicollinearity is particularly severe due to its small sample size and because many Nicaraguans immigrated in the same year, interacting with controls for years in the U.S., year-fixed effects, and age at treatment. While these controls are necessary to account for differences in age at migration and time in the U.S., they make it difficult to separate their independent effects, and the resulting inflated standard error makes it harder to detect them. Normalized person weights ensure that underrepresented subgroups, like TPS holders, receive the appropriate influence in estimates. However, WLS reduces precision compared to OLS because it has a disproportionate influence on heavily weighted observations, which can increase variance in the estimates, especially when those observations are few or noisy, as is often the case in small subgroup samples. Another empirical concern comes from the structure of the Nicaraguan sample. The ACS sampled a small number of Nicaraguan people concentrated in fewer states than other TPS-eligible groups (California and Florida). The lack of significance in DID, DID_SEX, and DID_EDUC for Nicaragua may be due to sample size limitations rather than the absence of an actual TPS effect. The composition of observed TPS-eligible and ineligible cohorts varies across ACS years, distorting estimates if certain TPS-eligible groups are underrepresented in specific ACS years. The DID model assumes that the composition of TPS-eligible and ineligible groups remains stable over time, but fluctuations in sample composition could bias the results. Given our total sample size, ACS sample sizes for TPS countries are small year-to-year. Fluctuations in the structure of year-to-year samples introduce noise that may either exaggerate or obscure treatment effects, undermining the model's ability to cleanly isolate the causal impact of TPS. While sample size presents challenges for statistical power in some models, the consistent pattern of heterogeneity across specifications strengthens confidence in this central finding.

Further, a fully interacted model for gender was not used due to sample size limitations. Running separate regressions for men and women preserves statistical power but prevents the estimation of fully interacted gender effects across all covariates. Instead of estimating separate coefficients for every variable by gender, we allow the TPS treatment effect to vary by gender while keeping other covariates pooled. Moreover, a fully interacted Difference-in-Differences model pooling all three TPS-eligible countries into a single dataset would allow for a direct comparison of TPS effects across nationalities. However, implementing this model poses significant challenges due to differences in TPS implementation timing and the need for a flexible staggered DiD framework beyond the traditional DiD structure. The most significant empirical concern is the possible misidentification of TPS-eligible individuals. Legal status is not directly reported in the dataset, and using proxies introduces the risk of misclassification bias where some individuals may incorrectly be categorized as TPS-eligible while overlooking individuals who were eligible for TPS.

4 Conclusion

The results challenge TPS's effectiveness as a short-term economic stabilizer. Rather than producing broad labor market improvements for all possible beneficiaries, the effects of TPS were small, often insignificant, and highly heterogeneous across groups. This suggests that legal work authorization-or its prospect- does not guarantee economic gains and that the temporary nature of TPS may limit its effectiveness in fostering labor improvements in the short term. Moreover, the variation in TPS's impact across Salvadorans, Hondurans, and Nicaraguans underscores the limitations of a one-size-fits-all immigration policy. Fragmentation is evidence that TPS did not function as a broadly effective economic stabilizer or mobility tool. Historically, U.S. immigration policy has affected Central American groups differently and unevenly, and applied within the same group at different times. The legacies of these effects change how groups benefit from broad-stroke policies, possibly inhibiting them from working as designed. These findings indicate that the effectiveness of TPS depends on structural factors that vary by country and demographic group. If TPS intends to provide humanitarian protection and economic stability, policymakers must consider whether its current design is sufficient. TPS might need to include more substantial employment support, pathways to more permanent legal status, or tailored labor market programs for different recipient groups. If the policy's goal is economic mobility, future immigration policy may need to shift away from temporary protections toward more stable, long-term solutions that provide displaced individuals with greater security and opportunities for advancement.

Further research should focus on a fully interacted DiD model pooling all TPS-eligible countries, allowing for a direct comparison of TPS effects and a more comprehensive understanding of heterogeneous effects; this could involve using the Callaway and Sant'Anna (2021) Difference-in-Differences approach, which allows for staggered treatment timing across multiple time periods. Expansions on TPS research should also uncover the causes of heterogeneity among nationalities to tailor policy improvement recommendations better. If countries are not benefiting homogeneously in the short term, future studies should investigate if this discrepancy persists twenty years later. More effective immigration policies could alleviate immediate vulnerabilities and empower recipients to contribute more fully to the economy and society. Future expansions should formally test the role of immigrant networks in shaping labor market responses to TPS. A potential extension could incorporate local network density measures, using regional settlement patterns of TPS recipients to examine whether labor market benefits are more potent in areas with larger pre-existing co-national communities.

Another key area of inquiry is gender-specific labor market behavior. The DID_SEX coefficient identifies differential effects by gender but does not explain what drives these differences. Future research could move beyond broad gender classifications by investigating specific labor market conditions affecting men and women differently across origin countries. Theoretical models on intra-household labor allocation could be used to explore how TPS interacts with household dynamics and examine whether marital status mediates TPS effects. Additionally, future research could move beyond labor market indicators to examine broader measures of integration and stability (homeowner ownership, access to credit, intergenerational mobility). Finally, expansions should also investigate whether long-term reliance on temporary status allows for eventual investment in human capital and alters the industry concentrations of TPS recipients compared to non-eligible people from the same country over time. Overall, future research should uncover the causes of heterogeneity among nationalities to better tailor policy improvement recommendations.

References

- Amuedo-Dorantes, Catalina and Esther Arenas-Arroy (2017). Immigrant Fertility in the Midst of Intensified Enforcement. GLO Discussion Paper 1. Global Labor Organization (GLO). URL: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/150052.
- Amuedo-Dorantes, Catalina and Cynthia Bansak (2007). The Impact of Amnesty on Labor Market Outcomes: A Panel Study Using the Legalized Population Survey. CReAM Discussion Paper CDP No. 06/11. Centre for Research and Analysis of Migration (CReAM), University College London. URL: https://docs.iza.org/dp5576.pdf.
- Amuedo-Dorantes, Catalina, Cynthia Bansak, and Steven Raphael (2007). "Gender Differences in the Labor Market: Impact of IRCA's Amnesty Provisions". In: *The American Economic Review* 97.2, pp. 412–416. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/30034486.
- Amuedo-Dorantes, Catalina, Cristina Borra, and Noelia Rivera-Garrido (2023). "No one size fits all': Diverse impacts of Temporary Protected Status on Haitians and Hondurans".
 In: *Economics Letters* 228, p. 111163. DOI: 10.1016/j.econlet.2023.111163. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2023.111163.
- Bahar, Dany, Ana María Ibáñez, and Sandra V. Rozo (Oct. 2020). Give Me Your Tired and Your Poor: Impact of a Large-Scale Amnesty Program for Undocumented Refugees.
 Tech. rep. N/A. UC Berkeley, CEGA Working Papers. DOI: 10.5072/FK2FQ9ZT5B. URL: https://escholarship.org/uc/item/03v0d863.
- Baker, Bryan (Jan. 2014). Estimates of the Unauthorized Immigrant Population Residing in the United States: January 2014. Tech. rep. U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Office of Immigration Statistics. URL: https://ohss.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/ 2023-12/Unauthorized%2520Immigrant%2520Population%2520Estimates%2520in% 2520the%2520US%2520January%25202014_1.pdf.
- Bansak, Cynthia (2005). "The Differential Wage Impact of the Immigration Reform and Control Act on Latino Ethnic Subgroups". In: Social Science Quarterly 86.Special Issue: Income, Poverty, and Opportunity, pp. 1279–1298. URL: https://www.jstor.org/ stable/42956036.

- Bergeron, Claire (2014). "Temporary Protected Status after 25 Years: Addressing the Challenge of Long-Term "Temporary" Residents and Strengthening a Centerpiece of US Humanitarian Protection". In: Journal on Migration and Human Security 2.1, pp. 22–43.
 DOI: 10.1177/233150241400200103. URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/233150241400200103.
- Callaway, Brantly and Pedro H. C. Sant'Anna (2021). "Difference-in-Differences with Multiple Time Periods". In: *Journal of Econometrics* 225.2, pp. 200–230. DOI: 10.1016/j. jeconom.2020.12.001. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeconom.2020.12.001.
- Cunningham, Scott (2021). Causal Inference: The Mixtape. Yale University Press. URL: https://mixtape.scunning.com/.
- Devillanova, Carlo, Francesco Fasani, and Tommaso Frattini (2018). "Employment of Undocumented Immigrants and the Prospect of Legal Status: Evidence from an Amnesty Program". In: *ILR Review* 71.4, pp. 853–881. DOI: 10.1177/0019793917743246. URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793917743246.
- Gutiérrez, David G., ed. (2004). The Columbia History of Latinos in the United States Since 1960. New York: Columbia University Press, p. 512. URL: https://cup.columbia. edu/book/the-columbia-history-of-latinos-in-the-united-states-since-1960/9780231118095.
- Guzman, Betsy (May 2000). The Hispanic Population, Census 2000 Brief. Tech. rep. C2KBR/01-3. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Census Bureau. URL: https://www2.census.gov/library/ publications/decennial/2000/briefs/c2kbr01-03.pdf.
- Harris, Jorgen M. and Rhiannon Jerch (2024). "The Long-Run Effects of Temporary Protection from Deportation". In: Journal of Policy Analysis and Management. DOI: 10. 1002/pam.22609. URL: https://ideas.repec.org/a/wly/jpamgt/v44y2025i1p151-182.html.
- Institute, Migration Policy (2023). Profile of the Unauthorized Population: United States. Accessed: [Insert date of access]. URL: https://www.migrationpolicy.org/programs/usimmigration-policy-program-data-hub/unauthorized-immigrant-populationprofiles.
- Ishizawa, Oscar A. and Juan Jose Miranda (June 2016). Weathering Storms: Understanding the Impact of Natural Disasters on the Poor in Central America. Policy Research Working

Paper 7692. World Bank Group, Social, Urban, Rural and Resilience Global Practice Group. URL: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2811339.

- Kaushal, Neeraj (2006). "Amnesty Programs and the Labor Market Outcomes of Undocumented Workers". In: *The Journal of Human Resources* 41.3, pp. 631–647. DOI: 10. 3368/jhr.XLI.3.631. URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/40057272.
- Kossoudji, Sherrie A. and Deborah A. Cobb-Clark (2002). "Coming out of the Shadows: Learning about Legal Status and Wages from the Legalized Population". In: Journal of Labor Economics 20.3, pp. 598–628. DOI: 10.1086/339611. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1086/339611.
- Kugler, Adriana and Mutlu Yuksel (Aug. 2008). Effects of Low-Skilled Immigration on U.S. Natives: Evidence from Hurricane Mitch. IZA Discussion Paper 3670. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA). DOI: 10.3386/w14293. URL: https://doi.org/10.3386/w14293.
- Menjívar, Cecilia (2006). "Liminal legality: Salvadoran and Guatemalan immigrants' lives in the United States". In: American Journal of Sociology 111.4, pp. 999–1037. DOI: 10. 1086/499509. URL: https://doi.org/10.1086/499509.
- (2008). "Educational Hopes, Documented Dreams: Guatemalan and Salvadoran Immigrants' Legality and Educational Prospects". In: *The Annals of the American Academy* of Political and Social Science 620.1, pp. 177–193. DOI: 10.1177/0002716208323020.
 URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716208323020.
- (May 2017). Temporary Protected Status in the United States: The Experiences of Honduran and Salvadoran Immigrants. Research Report. Lawrence, Kansas: Center for Migration Research, University of Kansas. URL: %5Bhttps://www.wola.org/wp-content/ uploads/2017/06/TPS_REPORT_FINAL.pdf.
- Menjívar, Cecilia, Victor Agadjanian, and Byeongdon Oh (2022). "The Contradictions of Liminal Legality: Economic Attainment and Civic Engagement of Central American Immigrants on Temporary Protected Status". In: Social Problems 69.3, pp. 678–698. DOI: 10.1093/socpro/spaa052. URL: https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spaa052.
- Orrenius, Pia M. and Madeline Zavodny (Dec. 2014). The Impact of Temporary Protected Status on Immigrants' Labor Market Outcomes. IZA Discussion Paper 8744. Bonn, Germany: Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA). URL: https://www.iza.org/publications/

dp/8744/the-impact-of-temporary-protected-status-on-immigrants-labormarket-outcomes.

- Pan, Ying (2012). "The Impact of Legal Status on Immigrants' Earnings and Human Capital: Evidence from the IRCA 1986". In: Journal of Labor Research 33.2, pp. 119–142. DOI: 10.1007/s12122-012-9134-0. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12122-012-9134-0.
- Pierce, Sarah and Andrew Selee (Dec. 2017). Immigration under Trump: A Review of Policy Shifts in the Year Since the Election. Policy Brief. Migration Policy Institute (MPI). URL: https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/immigration-under-trump-reviewpolicy-shifts.
- Puryear, Jeffrey and Marielle Malloy Jewers (Nov. 2009). How Poor and Unequal is Latin America and the Caribbean? Tech. rep. Policy Brief No. 1. Accessed: [Insert date of access]. Washington, D.C.: Inter-American Dialogue. URL: https://www.thedialogue. org.
- Salcido, Olivia and Cecilia Menjívar (2013). "Gendered Paths to Legal Citizenship: The Case of Latin-American Immigrants in Phoenix, Arizona". In: Law Society Review 47.2, pp. 335–368. DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-5893.2012.00491. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1540-5893.2012.00491.x%5B0pens%20in%20a%20new%20window%5D.
- U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) (Feb. 2023). Common Scams. Accessed: 2024-03-20. URL: https://www.uscis.gov/scams-fraud-and-misconduct/avoidscams/common-scams.
- Vurgun, Beyhan (May 2022). "Self-Selection and Wage Consequences among Undocumented Central American Migrants in the United States—The Case of Nicaraguan, Guatemalan, and Salvadorian Migrants". Master's Thesis (15 ECTS). Lund, Sweden: Lund University. URL: http://lup.lub.lu.se/student-papers/record/9095236.
- Wasem, Ruth Ellen and Karma Ester (Sept. 2008). Temporary Protected Status: Current Immigration Policy and Issues. Tech. rep. RS20844. Washington, D.C.: Congressional Research Service, Library of Congress. URL: https://tracreports.org/tracker/ dynadata/2015_05/RS20844.pdf.

A Appendix

A.1 Variable Descriptions

Variable	Description
SEX	Binary variable indicating respondent's sex $(0 = \text{male}, 1 = \text{female})$.
AGE	Respondent's current age in years.
AGE_AT	Age of the respondent at the time TPS was granted, used instead
TREATMENT	of current age to control for time-varying age effects.
YEARS_IN_US	Number of years the respondent has lived in the U.S., calculated
	as the survey year minus the immigration year.
INCOME	Total pre-tax personal income in a year, shown in logarithmic form
	and adjusted for inflation.
WAGES	Pre-tax wage and salary income—money received as an employee,
	also shown in logarithmic form and adjusted for inflation.
MARST	Marital status dummy $(1 = \text{married}, 0 = \text{not married}).$
TPS_ELIGIBLE	Binary variable indicating whether an individual is from a TPS-
	eligible country $(1 = \text{eligible}, 0 = \text{not eligible}).$
ELIGIBLEYR-	Binary variable indicating whether an individual immigrated
IMMIG	within the TPS-eligible period.
DID	Difference-in-Differences interaction term capturing the overall
	TPS treatment effect (TPS_ELIGIBLE \times ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG).
DID_SEX	Interaction term measuring how TPS effects differ by gender (DID
	\times SEX).
DID_EDUC	Interaction term measuring how TPS effects differ by education
	level (DID \times EDUC_9TH).
DID_SEX_EDUC	Triple interaction term capturing TPS effects by both gender and
	education level (DID \times SEX \times EDUC_9TH).
DID_AAT	Interaction term capturing variation in TPS effects based on age
	at treatment (DID \times AGE_AT_TREATMENT).
EDUC_9TH	Binary variable indicating whether the respondent has a high
	school diploma (1 = at least high school, $0 = less$ than high school).
C(YEAR)	Set of year fixed effects controlling for macroeconomic trends af-
	fecting all migrants.
YEAR	Survey year indicating the year in which the data was collected.
OWNERSHP	Binary variable indicating whether the respondent owns their
	dwelling $(1 = \text{owning}, 0 = \text{not owning}).$

A.2 Summary Statistics

A.2.1 Summary Statistics by TPS Eligibility

Table 4: Demographic and Economic Statistics by TPS Eligibility

	TPS Eligible		Not TI	PS Eligible
Outcome	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)
Panel A: Honduras				
Age	31.52	(7.55)	30.46	(7.94)
Years of Education	9.46	(2.52)	9.22	(3.01)
Employment Rate $(\%)$	94.53		94.66	
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	95.45		94.47	
Hours Worked	40.07	(9.08)	39.41	(8.19)
Log Income	9.67	(0.83)	9.54	(0.81)
Log Wage Income	9.62	(1.00)	9.53	(0.82)
Homeownership $(\%)$	29.50		20.66	
Panel B: Nicaragua				
Age	35.36	(11.58)	29.44	(9.79)
Years of Education	10.74	(2.32)	10.51	(2.20)
Employment Rate $(\%)$	93.61		95.34	
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	94.96		94.64	
Hours Worked	39.37	(10.11)	38.76	(9.32)
Log Income	9.68	(0.87)	9.47	(0.98)
Log Wage Income	9.66	(0.87)	9.45	(1.01)
Homeownership $(\%)$	32.94		26.61	
Panel C: El Salvador				
Age	29.73	(7.81)	28.65	(8.39)
Years of Education	9.03	(3.17)	8.94	(3.24)
Employment Rate $(\%)$	95.11		94.59	
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	95.16		95.02	
Hours Worked	39.48	(8.45)	39.75	(8.58)
Log Income	9.65	(0.85)	9.37	(0.96)
Log Wage Income	9.64	(0.86)	9.36	(0.97)
Homeownership (%)	28.75		23.14	

A.2.2 Summary Statistics for Women

	Female	TPS Eligible	Female 1	Not TPS Eligible
Outcome	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)
Panel A: Honduras				
Age	32.28	(6.93)	31.42	(8.43)
Years of Education	9.73	(2.47)	9.12	(2.94)
Employment Rate (%)	93.43		90.65	
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	92.62		93.33	
Hours Worked	37.19	(9.50)	36.81	(7.87)
Log Income	9.50	(0.29)	9.21	(0.90)
Log Wage Income	9.16	(1.28)	9.19	(0.91)
Homeownership $(\%)$	26.33		23.22	. /
Panel B: Nicaragua				
Age	35.41	(11.60)	31.29	(11.11)
Years of Education	10.86	(2.25)	11.01	(1.54)
Employment Rate $(\%)$	99.17		97.39	
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	91.47		91.81	
Hours Worked	36.36	(10.04)	35.47	(9.70)
Log Income	9.35	(0.93)	9.13	(1.17)
Log Wage Income	9.35	(0.93)	9.09	(1.19)
Homeownership $(\%)$	42.81		30.51	
Panel C: El Salvador				
Age	30.42	(8.42)	29.13	(8.91)
Years of Education	9.10	(3.18)	8.95	(3.27)
Employment Rate $(\%)$	95.26		90.86	
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	90.53		88.93	
Hours Worked	37.02	(9.27)	37.79	(9.70)
Log Income	9.28	(0.94)	9.11	(1.01)
Log Wage Income	9.26	(0.95)	8.99	(1.11)
Homeownership (%)	31.77	· /	24.15	. ,

Table 5: Demographic and Economic Statistics for Females by TPS Eligibility

A.2.3 Summary Statistics for Men

	Male T	PS Eligible	Male No	Male Not TPS Eligible	
Outcome	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)	
Panel A: Honduras					
Age	31.13	(7.82)	29.97	(7.64)	
Years of Education	9.32	(2.53)	9.27	(3.04)	
Employment Rate $(\%)$	95.08		96.66		
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	96.92		95.05		
Hours Worked	41.57	(8.48)	40.73	(8.04)	
Log Income	9.87	(0.71)	9.71	(0.71)	
Log Wage Income	9.85	(0.72)	9.71	(0.71)	
Homeownership $(\%)$	31.15		19.35		
Panel B: Nicaragua					
Age	35.31	(11.57)	28.36	(8.74)	
Years of Education	10.64	(2.37)	10.21	(2.46)	
Employment Rate $(\%)$	89.21		94.18		
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	97.91		96.30		
Hours Worked	41.91	(9.44)	40.70	(8.52)	
Log Income	9.95	(0.71)	9.67	(0.78)	
Log Wage Income	9.93	(0.71)	9.66	(0.81)	
Homeownership $(\%)$	24.58		24.32		
Panel C: El Salvador					
Age	29.40	(7.47)	28.46	(8.17)	
Years of Education	9.00	(3.17)	8.94	(3.23)	
Employment Rate $(\%)$	95.05		95.95		
Labor Force Participation $(\%)$	97.36		97.47		
Hours Worked	40.65	(7.76)	40.54	(7.96)	
Log Income	9.83	(0.74)	9.52	(0.85)	
Log Wage Income	9.82	(0.75)	9.50	(0.87)	
Homeownership (%)	27.32	× /	22.73	× /	

Table 6: Demographic and Economic Statistics for Males by TPS Eligibility

A.3 Sample Sizes

		Country	
	El Salvador	Honduras	Nicaragua
Eligible	1,861	700	110
Not Eligible	824	702	160
Total	2,685	1,402	270

Table 7: Overall Sample Sizes by Country and Eligibility

Table 8: Mexico Control Sample Size by Country and Eligibility

	Mexico Control Sample Size						
	El Salvador Honduras Nicara						
Eligible	19,093	14,460	14,460				
Not Eligible	18,060	18,738	18,738				
Total	37,153	33,198	33,198				

Table 9: Sample Sizes by Gender, Country, and Eligibility

	Country					
	El Salvador	Honduras	Nicaragua			
Panel A: Wo	men					
Eligible	634	243	46			
Not Eligible	247	232	58			
Total	881	475	104			
Panel B: Mer	n					
Eligible	1,227	457	64			
Not Eligible	577	470	102			
Total	1,804	927	166			

	TPS Eligible						
	El Salvador	Honduras	Nicaragua				
Panel A: Counts							
Graduated	657	260	71				
Did Not Graduate	1,204	440	39				
Total	1,861	700	110				
Panel B: Proportion	ns						
Graduated	35%	37%	65%				
Did Not Graduate	65%	63%	35%				
Total	100%	100%	100%				

Table 10: TPS Eligible by Education Level and Country

A.4 Regression Results

Here we present full regression results for the models discussed in the paper and for other models ran as part of the study.

A.4.1 Basic Model Regression Results

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)			
Panel A: El Salvador								
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.008	0.017	0.022	0.062	-0.007			
	(0.009)	(0.046)	(0.044)	(0.422)	(0.008)			
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.008	-0.030	-0.025	-0.449*	0.007			
	(0.006)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.235)	(0.005)			
DID	0.005	0.100^{*}	0.093^{*}	-0.313	0.011			
	(0.012)	(0.054)	(0.052)	(0.496)	(0.010)			
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.009***	0.009***	0.006	0.001***			
(0.000) (0.001) (0.001) (0.007) (0.000)								
SEX	-0.031***	-0.598***	-0.579***	-4.722***	-0.089***			

Table 11: Regression Results by Country: Basic Model

Table 11 - continued from previous page

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.146)	(0.004)
MARST	-0.002	0.036***	0.033***	0.147	-0.017***
		(0.013)		(0.125)	
VEADS IN HS	(0.003)	(0.013) 0.074^{***}	(0.012)	(0.123) 0.191^{***}	(0.003) - 0.003^{**}
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001		0.072***		
	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.062)	(0.001)
		B: Hondu			
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.007	0.062^{*}	0.057^{*}	-0.104	-0.003
	(0.011)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.343)	(0.011)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.010	0.032	0.025	0.420^{*}	-0.005
	(0.007)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.254)	(0.006)
DID	0.004	-0.016	0.027	0.136	0.013
	(0.015)	(0.062)	(0.050)	(0.593)	(0.015)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.009***	0.009***	0.011	0.001***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.033***	-0.603***	-0.584***	-4.752***	-0.089***
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.150)	(0.004)
MARST	-0.001	0.050***	0.044***	0.125	-0.017***
	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.128)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.002	0.025***	0.028***	-0.018	0.002
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.078)	(0.002)
	Panel	C: Nicara	gua		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.001	-0.001	0.006	-0.365	0.002
	(0.018)	(0.089)	(0.087)	(0.872)	(0.018)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.008	0.035	0.029	0.462*	-0.005
	(0.007)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.257)	(0.006)
DID	-0.015	0.173	0.161	0.486	0.010
	(0.039)	(0.123)	(0.121)	(1.548)	(0.034)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.008***	0.009***	0.008	0.001***

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.032***	-0.602***	-0.586***	-4.766***	-0.092***
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.153)	(0.004)
MARST	-0.001	0.045***	0.041***	0.139	-0.017***
	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.131)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.001	0.025***	0.027***	-0.032	0.002
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.079)	(0.002)

Table 11 – continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p < 0.1; **p < 0.05; ***p < 0.01.

The tables display the results of the basic Difference-in-Differences (DiD) specification model on the labor market effects of TPS eligibility. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the U.S. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

A.4.2 Extended Model Regression Results

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Panel A	A: El Salva	ador		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.007	0.017	0.022	0.065	-0.007
	(0.009)	(0.046)	(0.044)	(0.422)	(0.008)
ELIGIBLEYEIMMIG	0.008	-0.030	-0.025	-0.448*	0.007
	(0.006)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.235)	(0.005)
DID	-0.001	0.028	0.017	-1.049	-0.001
	(0.022)	(0.106)	(0.105)	(1.031)	(0.021)
DID_SEX	0.024	0.084	0.054	1.300^{*}	0.025
	(0.015)	(0.087)	(0.087)	(0.680)	(0.020)

Table 12: Regression Results by Country: Extended Model

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
DID_EDUC	-0.051**	-0.042	-0.053	-0.022	0.005
	(0.022)	(0.060)	(0.061)	(0.584)	(0.011)
DID_SEX_EDUC	0.029	0.005	0.035	-0.306	-0.005
	(0.032)	(0.121)	(0.121)	(1.295)	(0.036)
DID_AAT	0.001	0.002	0.003	0.015	0.000
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.034)	(0.001)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.009***	0.009***	0.006	0.001***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.033***	-0.603***	-0.582***	-4.789***	-0.091***
	(0.004)	(0.017)	(0.016)	(0.150)	(0.004)
MARST	-0.002	0.036**	0.033***	0.147	-0.017***
	(0.003)	(0.013)	(0.012)	(0.125)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001	0.074***	0.072***	0.192***	-0.003*
	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.062)	(0.001)
	Panel	B: Hondu	ras		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.007	0.062*	0.057^{*}	-0.103	-0.003
	(0.011)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.343)	(0.011)
ELIGIBLEYEIMMIG	-0.010	0.032	0.025	0.422*	-0.005
	(0.007)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.254)	(0.006)
DID	-0.046	-0.207	-0.190	-1.694	0.028
	(0.033)	(0.135)	(0.133)	(1.791)	(0.032)
DID_SEX	0.004	-0.301	-0.103	-1.104	0.052^{*}
	(0.039)	(0.222)	(0.118)	(1.251)	(0.027)
DID_EDUC	0.011	-0.036	-0.038	-0.657	-0.046
	(0.019)	(0.083)	(0.084)	(1.354)	(0.031)
DID_SEX_EDUC	0.017	0.392	0.184	2.894	0.001
	(0.045)	(0.246)	(0.160)	(2.363)	(0.055)
DID_AAT	0.002*	0.010*	0.010*	0.081	-0.001

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.001)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.060)	(0.001)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.008***	0.009***	0.009	0.001***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.033***	-0.600***	-0.584***	-4.753***	-0.090***
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.151)	(0.004)
MARST	-0.001	0.050^{*}	0.044***	0.126	-0.017***
	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.128)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.002	0.026***	0.028***	-0.018	0.002
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.078)	(0.002)
	Panel	C: Nicara	gua		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.001	-0.001	0.006	-0.365	0.002
	(0.018)	(0.089)	(0.087)	(0.872)	(0.018)
ELIGIBLEYEIMMIG	-0.008	0.035	0.029	0.464*	-0.005
	(0.007)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.257)	(0.006)
DID	0.010	0.032	0.023	-2.627	-0.181
	(0.113)	(0.271)	(0.272)	(6.291)	(0.139)
DID_SEX	0.087	0.240	0.240	4.583**	-0.025
	(0.054)	(0.149)	(0.151)	(1.861)	(0.190)
DID_EDUC	-0.089	0.098	0.119	4.036	0.094
	(0.111)	(0.177)	(0.174)	(2.951)	(0.075)
DID_SEX_EDUC	0.065	-0.121	-0.163	-7.004	0.070
	(0.098)	(0.292)	(0.291)	(4.675)	(0.193)
DID_AAT	-0.001	0.000	-0.000	0.016	0.004
	(0.003)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.165)	(0.003)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.008***	0.009***	0.008	0.001***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.032***	-0.602***	-0.586***	-4.765***	-0.092***
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.153)	(0.004)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
MARST	-0.001	0.045***	0.041***	0.139	-0.017***
	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.131)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.001	0.025***	0.027***	-0.032	0.002
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.079)	(0.002)

Table 12 – continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses.

(1) Employed, (2) Log Wages, (3) Log Income, (4) Hours Worked, (5) In Labor Force

* p<0.1; ** p<0.05; *** p<0.01. Standard errors are robust in heteroskedasticity (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

This table presents results from the extended Difference-in-Differences (DiD) model, which allows TPS effects to vary by gender, education, and age at treatment. The DID coefficient represents the TPS effect for the reference group, which consists of men without a high school diploma who immigrated in the base year at the baseline age. The (DID_SEX) coefficient measures how much more (or less) TPS affected women relative to men, rather than the absolute effect of TPS on women. Similarly, the (DID_EDUC) coefficient captures how the TPS effect differed for high school graduates relative to non-graduates, rather than the direct effect of TPS on high school graduates. The (DID_AAT) coefficient accounts for whether TPS eligibility's effect varies based on the age at which an individual became eligible for TPS. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the US. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

A.4.3 Men and Women By Education Results

The tables below display the results of the basic Difference-in-Differences (DiD) specification model on the labor market effects of TPS eligibility by gender and education level. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the U.S. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

		Men v	with High	School Educ	cation
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Panel A: El Salvador					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.006	-0.008	-0.011	-1.335***	-0.004
	(0.013)	(0.088)	(0.088)	(0.456)	(0.012)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.021**	-0.061	-0.042	-0.106	-0.005
	(0.010)	(0.038)	(0.034)	(0.403)	(0.008)
DID	-0.050**	0.111	0.103	0.814	0.008
	(0.024)	(0.099)	(0.099)	(0.665)	(0.015)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001^{*}	0.009***	0.009***	0.005	-0.001
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.015)	(0.000)
MARST	0.010*	0.141***	0.139***	0.871***	0.005
	(0.005)	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.231)	(0.004)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.005**	0.061***	0.058***	0.041	0.000
	(0.002)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.107)	(0.002)
Panel B: Honduras					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.002	0.141***	0.134**	-0.624	-0.020
	(0.012)	(0.054)	(0.054)	(0.581)	(0.016)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.024*	0.026	0.020	-0.327	-0.009
	(0.012)	(0.042)	(0.042)	(0.475)	(0.008)
DID	0.001	-0.087	-0.078	0.305	-0.013
	(0.018)	(0.087)	(0.089)	(1.355)	(0.035)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.011***	0.011***	0.012	-0.001

Table 13: Basic Regression Results for Men with High School Diploma

Continued on next page

		Men v	with High	School Edu	cation
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.016)	(0.000)
MARST	0.005	0.148***	0.145***	0.798***	0.001
	(0.005)	(0.021)	(0.021)	(0.234)	(0.005)
YEARS_IN_US	0.006^{*}	0.028**	0.029**	0.068	0.004
	(0.004)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.142)	(0.003)
Panel C: Nicaragua					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.016	0.123	0.112	-0.914	-0.034
	(0.033)	(0.086)	(0.086)	(0.806)	(0.036)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.023*	0.029	0.023	-0.288	-0.007
	(0.013)	(0.043)	(0.042)	(0.477)	(0.008)
DID	-0.078	0.005	0.033	2.658	0.066^{*}
	(0.089)	(0.186)	(0.182)	(2.049)	(0.036)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.011***	0.011***	0.011	-0.001
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.016)	(0.000)
MARST	0.005	0.144***	0.142***	0.764***	0.001
	(0.006)	(0.022)	(0.021)	(0.239)	(0.005)
YEARS_IN_US	0.006	0.027**	0.028**	0.055	0.003
	(0.004)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.142)	(0.003)
Observations	9330	9330	9330	9330	9693

Table 13 - continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

		Men w	rithout Hig	ch School E	ducation
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Panel A: El Salvador					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.008	-0.029	-0.007	-0.222	-0.006
	(0.014)	(0.065)	(0.059)	(0.630)	(0.009)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.003	0.035	0.035	-0.494	0.002
	(0.010)	(0.033)	(0.032)	(0.338)	(0.008)
DID	0.015	0.121	0.107	-0.367	0.002
	(0.016)	(0.077)	(0.072)	(0.718)	(0.011)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.000	0.004***	0.004***	-0.008	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.010)	(0.000)
IARST	0.000	0.082***	0.084***	0.363**	-0.001
	(0.005)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.172)	(0.003)
TEARS_IN_US	0.002	0.066***	0.067***	0.219**	-0.001
	(0.003)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.089)	(0.001)
anel B: Honduras					
PS_ELIGIBLE	0.003	-0.043	-0.047	-0.151	-0.026
	(0.011)	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.558)	(0.018)
LIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.008	0.003	0.000	0.506	0.001
	(0.011)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.353)	(0.006)
ID	-0.018	0.149**	0.155**	0.448	0.034^{*}
	(0.019)	(0.069)	(0.069)	(0.824)	(0.019)
GE_AT_TREATMENT	0.000	0.003***	0.004***	-0.012	-0.000

Table 14: Full Regression Results for Men without High School Education

Continued on next page

		Men w	rithout Hig	gh School B	Education
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.010)	(0.000)
MARST	-0.003	0.096***	0.098***	0.650***	-0.001
	(0.005)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.176)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.003	0.038***	0.040***	-0.028	-0.000
	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.109)	(0.002)
Panel C: Nicaragua					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.026	-0.172	-0.147	-0.280	0.073
	(0.040)	(0.189)	(0.186)	(2.225)	(0.010)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.008	0.006	0.003	0.594*	-0.002
	(0.011)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.359)	(0.006)
DID	0.009	0.266	0.235	-1.875	-0.053
	(0.067)	(0.207)	(0.205)	(2.831)	(0.069)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.000	0.003***	0.003***	-0.014	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.011)	(0.000)
MARST	-0.003	0.094***	0.096***	0.511***	-0.001
	(0.005)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.180)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.003	0.038***	0.039***	-0.057	0.001
	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.111)	(0.002)

Table 14 - continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

		Women	with High	ı School Edu	ication
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Panel A: El Salvador					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.017	0.374***	0.363***	4.970***	-0.021
	(0.026)	(0.113)	(0.113)	(1.567)	(0.040)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.026	-0.143*	-0.138	-0.020	0.024
	(0.019)	(0.086)	(0.085)	(0.830)	(0.025)
DID	-0.017	-0.227	-0.218	-4.779**	0.039
	(0.033)	(0.140)	(0.140)	(1.909)	(0.049)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.003**	0.025***	0.026***	0.095***	0.003***
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.025)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.014	-0.091**	-0.110**	-1.210***	-0.048***
	(0.010)	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.410)	(0.013)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.003	0.103***	0.105***	0.121	-0.007
	(0.005)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.217)	(0.006)
Panel B: Honduras					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.007	0.119	0.121	0.409	0.049
	(0.023)	(0.139)	(0.135)	(0.877)	(0.034)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.005	0.171^{*}	0.156^{*}	0.984	0.002
	(0.020)	(0.094)	(0.092)	(0.851)	(0.028)
DID	0.010	-0.011	-0.026	0.919	-0.052
	(0.030)	(0.169)	(0.166)	(1.855)	(0.051)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001	0.021***	0.021***	0.072***	0.003***

Table 15: Full Regression Results for Women with High School Education

Continued on next page

		Women	ı with High	School Edu	cation
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.025)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.007	-0.114**	-0.141***	-1.527***	-0.050***
	(0.010)	(0.045)	(0.044)	(0.408)	(0.013)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001	-0.022	-0.017	-0.294	0.005
	(0.006)	(0.027)	(0.027)	(0.266)	(0.008)
Panel C: Nicaragua					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.016	0.167	0.150	-0.233	0.049
	(0.034)	(0.220)	(0.219)	(1.762)	(0.042)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.002	0.162^{*}	0.148	1.064	0.005
	(0.021)	(0.096)	(0.094)	(0.864)	(0.029)
DID	0.030	-0.012	-0.020	-1.093	-0.015
	(0.036)	(0.299)	(0.300)	(3.856)	(0.057)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001	0.021***	0.021***	0.065**	0.003***
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.027)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.009	-0.124***	-0.150***	-1.203***	-0.046***
	(0.010)	(0.046)	(0.045)	(0.421)	(0.013)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.002	-0.020	-0.015	-0.326	0.004
	(0.007)	(0.028)	(0.027)	(0.272)	(0.008)

Table 15 - continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

		Women w	ithout High	n School Edu	ication
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Panel A: El Salvador					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.038	0.009	-0.019	0.362	-0.007
	(0.030)	(0.136)	(0.137)	(1.231)	(0.029)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.004	-0.107	-0.113	-1.223*	0.029
	(0.017)	(0.074)	(0.072)	(0.698)	(0.020)
DID	0.065**	0.158	0.166	0.198	0.023
	(0.033)	(0.157)	(0.158)	(1.385)	(0.035)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.011***	0.011***	-0.011	0.002***
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.019)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.021**	-0.179***	-0.184***	-0.884**	-0.066***
	(0.008)	(0.039)	(0.037)	(0.361)	(0.010)
YEARS_IN_US	0.001	0.100***	0.098***	0.428**	-0.011**
	(0.004)	(0.021)	(0.020)	(0.174)	(0.005)
Panel B: Honduras					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.048	0.098	0.090	0.213	0.034
	(0.040)	(0.087)	(0.090)	(0.863)	(0.030)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.006	0.029	0.015	1.146	-0.019
	(0.019)	(0.072)	(0.072)	(0.722)	(0.024)
DID	0.053	-0.244	-0.040	-1.514	0.037
	(0.054)	(0.232)	(0.141)	(1.409)	(0.042)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001	0.011***	0.012***	0.017	0.002***

Table 16: Full Regression Results for Women without High School Diploma

Continued on next page

		Women w	rithout Hig	h School Edu	ication
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.020)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.002	-0.131***	-0.153***	-1.101***	-0.056***
	(0.010)	(0.038)	(0.036)	(0.377)	(0.011)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.008	0.012	0.017	0.036	0.001
	(0.006)	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.222)	(0.007)
Panel C: Nicaragua					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.073***	-0.204	-0.153	0.165	-0.027
	(0.008)	(0.246)	(0.225)	(2.200)	(0.086)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.013	0.035	0.026	1.033	-0.015
	(0.019)	(0.074)	(0.073)	(0.734)	(0.025)
DID	0.001	0.429	0.367	1.137	-0.039
	(0.014)	(0.269)	(0.250)	(2.395)	(0.190)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001	0.011***	0.012***	0.016	0.002***
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.020)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.004	-0.153***	-0.165***	-1.110***	-0.061***
	(0.010)	(0.037)	(0.037)	(0.389)	(0.011)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.010	0.010	0.014	0.078	0.000
	(0.006)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.227)	(0.007)

Table 16 - continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

A.4.4 Basic Model Women Only Regression Results

	EMDLOVED	LOCINCULACE	LOGINGTOT	UUDOWODY	INLADDODOD
Panel A: El Salvador	EMPLOYED	LOGINCWAGE	LOGINCTOT	UHRSWORK	IN_LABFORCE
	0.010	0 191	0.110	1.055*	0.011
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.018	0.131	0.110	1.957*	-0.011
	(0.021)	(0.099)	(0.099)	(1.004)	(0.023)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMMIG	0.013	-0.123**	-0.125**	-0.760	0.028*
5 ID	(0.012)	(0.056)	(0.055)	(0.533)	(0.016)
DID	0.035	0.036	0.043	-1.484	0.027
	(0.024)	(0.114)	(0.114)	(1.150)	(0.028)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.016***	0.016***	0.024	0.003***
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.015)	(0.000)
MARST	-0.018***	-0.140***	-0.151***	-0.995***	-0.058***
	(0.006)	(0.030)	(0.028)	(0.273)	(0.008)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001	0.102^{***}	0.099^{***}	0.310^{**}	-0.009**
	(0.003)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.136)	(0.004)
Panel B: Honduras					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.028	0.122	0.115	0.363	0.041^{*}
	(0.027)	(0.074)	(0.075)	(0.639)	(0.023)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMMIG	0.001	0.093	0.078	1.121^{**}	-0.010
	(0.014)	(0.058)	(0.057)	(0.555)	(0.018)
DID	0.039	-0.163	-0.045	-0.601	-0.000
	(0.036)	(0.154)	(0.106)	(1.122)	(0.032)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001^{**}	0.015^{***}	0.015^{***}	0.037^{**}	0.003^{***}
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.016)	(0.000)
MARST	-0.004	-0.124***	-0.148***	-1.269^{***}	-0.054^{***}
	(0.007)	(0.029)	(0.028)	(0.280)	(0.008)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.005	-0.004	0.002	-0.108	0.002
	(0.004)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.171)	(0.005)
Panel C: Nicaragua				. ,	
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.035	0.037	0.044	0.100	0.018
	(0.023)	(0.169)	(0.164)	(1.348)	(0.039)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMMIG	0.006	0.094	0.082	1.088*	-0.007
	(0.014)	(0.059)	(0.059)	(0.564)	(0.019)
DID	0.023	0.166	0.136	-0.724	-0.007
	(0.025)	(0.223)	(0.219)	(2.810)	(0.068)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001^{**}	0.014***	0.015***	0.033**	0.003***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.016)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.006	-0.139***	-0.157***	-1.139***	-0.055***
	(0.007)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.288)	(0.008)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.007	-0.004	0.001	-0.095	0.001
	(0.004)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.175)	(0.006)
	(0.00-)	(0.0-0)	(0.0-0)	(00)	(0.000)

Table 17: Women (Only Basic	e Model:	Regression	Results b	v Country

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p < 0.1; **p < 0.05; ***p < 0.01.

The tables display the results of the basic Difference-in-Differences (DiD) specification model on the labor market effects of TPS eligibility for women only. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the U.S. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

A.4.5 Basic Model Men Only Regression Results

	EMPLOYED	LOGINCWAGE	LOGINCTOT	UHRSWORK	IN_LABFORCE
Panel A: El Salvador					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.003	-0.019	-0.006	-0.606	-0.005
	(0.010)	(0.052)	(0.049)	(0.435)	(0.007)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMMIG	0.006	-0.001	0.006	-0.347	-0.001
	(0.007)	(0.025)	(0.024)	(0.260)	(0.005)
DID	-0.008	0.119**	0.107^{*}	0.049	0.004
	(0.014)	(0.060)	(0.058)	(0.518)	(0.009)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.000	0.005***	0.005***	-0.005	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
MARST	0.004	0.106***	0.106***	0.561***	0.001
	(0.004)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.138)	(0.002)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001	0.064***	0.064***	0.151^{**}	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.069)	(0.001)
Panel B: Honduras	. ,	. ,	. ,		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.003	0.032	0.027	-0.327	-0.024*
	(0.008)	(0.036)	(0.035)	(0.408)	(0.013)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMMIG	-0.014^{*}	0.011	0.007	0.196	-0.003
	(0.008)	(0.025)	(0.025)	(0.284)	(0.005)
DID	-0.012	0.060	0.068	0.457	0.019
	(0.014)	(0.054)	(0.054)	(0.690)	(0.017)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001^{**}	0.006^{***}	0.006***	-0.005	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.009)	(0.000)
MARST	0.000	0.118^{***}	0.119^{***}	0.653^{***}	-0.000
	(0.004)	(0.013)	(0.012)	(0.140)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.004^{*}	0.035^{***}	0.036^{***}	0.008	0.001
	(0.002)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.086)	(0.002)
Panel C: Nicaragua					
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.022	-0.029	-0.021	-0.584	-0.011
	(0.026)	(0.102)	(0.101)	(1.155)	(0.019)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMMIG	-0.013	0.014	0.010	0.264	-0.004
	(0.008)	(0.026)	(0.025)	(0.287)	(0.005)
DID	-0.050	0.157	0.159	1.046	0.018
	(0.065)	(0.153)	(0.151)	(1.834)	(0.028)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001^{**}	0.005^{***}	0.005^{***}	-0.007	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.009)	(0.000)
MARST	0.000	0.116^{***}	0.117^{***}	0.619^{***}	-0.000
	(0.004)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.143)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.004	0.034^{***}	0.035^{***}	-0.014	0.002
	(0.002)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.088)	(0.002)

Table 18: Men Only Basic Model: Regression Results by Country

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p < 0.1; **p < 0.05; ***p < 0.01.

The tables display the results of the basic Difference-in-Differences (DiD) specification model on the labor

market effects of TPS eligibility for men only. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, marital status, and years in the U.S. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

A.4.6 Extended Model Men Only Regression Results

		-		-	-
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Panel A	: El Salva	dor		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.003	-0.019	-0.005	-0.606	-0.005
	(0.010)	(0.052)	(0.049)	(0.435)	(0.007)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.006	-0.001	0.006	-0.347	-0.001
	(0.007)	(0.025)	(0.024)	(0.260)	(0.005)
DID	0.003	0.086	0.060	0.072	-0.022
	(0.030)	(0.122)	(0.121)	(1.173)	(0.020)
DID_EDUC	-0.051**	-0.043	-0.057	-0.074	0.006
	(0.022)	(0.061)	(0.061)	(0.591)	(0.011)
DID_AAT	0.000	0.002	0.003	0.000	0.001
	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.040)	(0.001)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.000	0.005***	0.005***	-0.005	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
MARST	0.004	0.106***	0.106***	0.561***	0.001
	(0.004)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.138)	(0.002)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001	0.064***	0.064***	0.151**	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.069)	(0.001)
	Panel E	B: Hondur	as		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.003	0.032	0.027	-0.327	-0.024*
	(0.008)	(0.036)	(0.035)	(0.408)	(0.013)

Table 19: Men Only Extended Model: Regression Results by Country

		±			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.014*	0.011	0.007	0.198	-0.003
	(0.008)	(0.025)	(0.025)	(0.284)	(0.005)
DID	-0.069*	-0.198	-0.175	-0.598	0.065^{*}
	(0.036)	(0.157)	(0.155)	(2.185)	(0.035)
DID_EDUC	0.015	-0.027	-0.030	-0.747	-0.044
	(0.020)	(0.082)	(0.084)	(1.363)	(0.032)
DID_AAT	0.002**	0.011*	0.010*	0.052	-0.001
	(0.001)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.076)	(0.001)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001**	0.005***	0.005***	-0.006	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.009)	(0.000)
MARST	0.000	0.118***	0.118***	0.652***	-0.000
	(0.004)	(0.013)	(0.012)	(0.140)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.004^{*}	0.035***	0.036***	0.008	0.001
	(0.002)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.086)	(0.002)
	Panel C	C: Nicarag	ua		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.022	-0.029	-0.021	-0.585	-0.011
	(0.026)	(0.102)	(0.101)	(1.155)	(0.019)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.013	0.014	0.010	0.269	-0.004
	(0.008)	(0.026)	(0.025)	(0.287)	(0.005)
DID	0.057	-0.026	-0.047	-8.356	-0.123
	(0.179)	(0.298)	(0.299)	(5.326)	(0.159)
DID_EDUC	-0.091	0.107	0.128	5.115^{*}	0.084
	(0.121)	(0.172)	(0.168)	(2.924)	(0.082)
DID_AAT	-0.002	0.004	0.004	0.202*	0.003
	(0.005)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.121)	(0.003)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001**	0.005***	0.005***	-0.008	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.009)	(0.000)
MARST	0.000	0.116***	0.117***	0.618***	-0.000

		P-	P-O	-	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	(0.004)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.143)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.004	0.034***	0.035***	-0.016	0.002
	(0.002)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.088)	(0.002)

Table 19 – continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses.

(1) Employed, (2) Log Wages, (3) Log Income, (4) Hours Worked, (5) In Labor Force

Standard errors in parentheses. *p < 0.1; **p < 0.05; ***p < 0.01.

This table presents results from the extended Difference-in-Differences (DiD) model for a sample of men only, which allows TPS effects to vary by education and age at treatment. The DID coefficient represents the TPS effect for the reference group, which consists of men without a high school diploma who immigrated in the base year at the baseline age. The the (DID_EDUC) coefficient captures how the TPS effect differed for high school graduates relative to non-graduates, rather than the direct effect of TPS on high school graduates. The (DID_AAT) coefficient accounts for whether TPS eligibility's effect varies based on the age at which an individual became eligible for TPS. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the US. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3)and weighted using normalized person weights.

A.4.7 Extended Model Women Only Regression Results

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Panel	A: El Salva	ador		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.018	0.131	0.110	1.955^{*}	-0.011
	(0.021)	(0.099)	(0.099)	(1.003)	(0.023)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.013	-0.123**	-0.124**	-0.755	0.028*
	(0.012)	(0.056)	(0.055)	(0.533)	(0.016)
DID	0.023	0.036	0.029	-2.378	0.077
	(0.037)	(0.223)	(0.222)	(2.048)	(0.051)

Table 20: Women Only Extended Model: Regression Results by Country

Table 20 - continued from previous page

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
DID_EDUC	-0.022	-0.043	-0.012	-0.159	-0.005
	(0.024)	(0.112)	(0.111)	(1.176)	(0.035)
DID_AAT	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.036	-0.002
	(0.001)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.063)	(0.001)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.016***	0.016***	0.022	0.003***
	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.016)	(0.000)
MARST	-0.018***	-0.140***	-0.151***	-0.993***	-0.058***
	(0.006)	(0.030)	(0.028)	(0.274)	(0.008)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001	0.102***	0.099***	0.310**	-0.009**
	(0.003)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.136)	(0.004)
	Panel	B: Hondu	ras		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.028	0.122	0.115	0.364	0.041*
	(0.027)	(0.074)	(0.075)	(0.639)	(0.023)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.001	0.094	0.078	1.130**	-0.010
	(0.014)	(0.058)	(0.057)	(0.555)	(0.018)
DID	0.013	-0.422	-0.213	-5.118*	0.015
	(0.064)	(0.363)	(0.308)	(3.065)	(0.075)
DID_EDUC	0.017	0.301	0.092	2.231	-0.056
	(0.041)	(0.237)	(0.144)	(1.943)	(0.047)
DID_AAT	0.001	0.005	0.005	0.138	0.000
	(0.002)	(0.010)	(0.009)	(0.090)	(0.002)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001**	0.014***	0.015***	0.034**	0.003***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.016)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.004	-0.123***	-0.148***	-1.258***	-0.054***
	(0.007)	(0.029)	(0.028)	(0.280)	(0.008)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.005	-0.004	0.002	-0.110	0.002
	(0.004)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.171)	(0.005)

Panel C: Nicaragua

		I I	1.0	-	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.035	0.037	0.044	0.094	0.018
	(0.023)	(0.169)	(0.164)	(1.348)	(0.039)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.006	0.094	0.082	1.091^{*}	-0.007
	(0.014)	(0.059)	(0.059)	(0.564)	(0.019)
DID	0.029	0.486	0.497	10.142	-0.219
	(0.045)	(0.577)	(0.577)	(12.416)	(0.337)
DID_EDUC	-0.018*	-0.066	-0.086	-4.920	0.143
	(0.011)	(0.273)	(0.273)	(6.124)	(0.200)
DID_AAT	0.000	-0.009	-0.010	-0.246	0.004
	(0.001)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.346)	(0.006)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001**	0.015***	0.015***	0.035**	0.003***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.016)	(0.001)
MARST	-0.006	-0.140***	-0.158***	-1.144***	-0.054***
	(0.007)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.288)	(0.008)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.007	-0.004	0.001	-0.096	0.001
	(0.004)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.175)	(0.006)

Table 20 – continued from previous page

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses.

(1) Employed, (2) Log Wages, (3) Log Income, (4) Hours Worked, (5) In Labor Force * p<0.1; ** p<0.05; *** p<0.01.

This table presents results from the extended Difference-in-Differences (DiD) model for a sample of men only, which allows TPS effects to vary by education and age at treatment. The DID coefficient represents the TPS effect for the reference group, which consists of men without a high school diploma who immigrated in the base year at the baseline age. The the (DID_EDUC) coefficient captures how the TPS effect differed for high school graduates relative to non-graduates, rather than the direct effect of TPS on high school graduates. The (DID_AAT) coefficient accounts for whether TPS eligibility's effect varies based on the age at which an individual became eligible for TPS. The sample is restricted
to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the US. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3)and weighted using normalized person weights.

A.5 Balance Tests

Country	Variable	Treatment Mean	Control Mean	Normalized Difference
Honduras	AGE	31.52	30.46	0.14
	YEARS_EDUC	9.46	9.22	0.09
	LOGINCTOT	9.59	9.47	0.14
	LOGINCWAGE	9.54	9.46	0.08
	SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00
	OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.30	0.21	0.21
	IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.94	0.05
	SEX	0.34	0.34	0.01
	MARST	0.47	0.40	0.14
Nicaragua	AGE	35.36	29.44	0.55
	YEARS_EDUC	10.74	10.51	0.10
	LOGINCTOT	9.60	9.40	0.21
	LOGINCWAGE	9.58	9.38	0.22
	SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00
	OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.33	0.27	0.14
	IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.95	0.01
	SEX	0.46	0.37	0.18
	MARST	0.43	0.36	0.15
El Salvador	AGE	29.73	28.65	0.13
	YEARS_EDUC	9.03	8.94	0.03
х	LOGINCTOT	9.58	9.32	0.28
	LOGINCWAGE	9.56	9.31	0.28
	SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00
	OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.29	0.23	0.13
	IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.95	0.01
	SEX	0.32	0.29	0.08
	MARST	0.38	0.32	0.13

Table 21: Balance Test: Treatment Country Cohorts

Notes: Balance tests comparing baseline characteristics of TPS Eligible migrants and Non-TPS eligible migrants across each treatment country. Following common practice, any value below 0.2 is considered acceptable, indicating that the treatment and control groups are sufficiently similar in observed characteristics.

Comparison	Variable	Treatment Mean (Pre)	Control Mean (Post)	Normalized Difference
1996-1998 vs 1999-2001	AGE	30.64	29.60	0.12
	YEARS_EDUC	9.46	9.36	0.04
	LOGINCTOT	9.63	9.52	0.14
	LOGINCWAGE	9.62	9.50	0.13
	SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00
	OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.29	0.20	0.21
	IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.95	-0.00
	SEX	0.27	0.27	-0.01
	MARST	0.55	0.50	0.11
1998-2000 vs 2002-2004	AGE	29.81	28.88	0.11
	YEARS_EDUC	9.37	9.27	0.04
	LOGINCTOT	9.56	9.36	0.22
	LOGINCWAGE	9.55	9.35	0.21
	SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00
	OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.22	0.15	0.19
	IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.96	-0.05
	SEX	0.27	0.22	0.11
	MARST	0.51	0.45	0.12

Table 22: Balance Test: Mexico Cohorts

Notes: Balance tests comparing baseline characteristics of Mexican migrants immigrating in TPS-Eligible years and those immigrating Non-TPS years eligible years. Following common practice, any value below 0.2 is considered acceptable, indicating that the treatment and control groups are sufficiently similar in observed characteristics.

Variable	El Salvador Mean	Mexico Mean	Normalized Difference
AGE	29.73	29.81	-0.01
YEARS_EDUC	9.03	9.37	-0.12
LOGINCTOT	9.65	9.56	0.11
LOGINCWAGE	9.64	9.55	0.11
SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00
OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.29	0.22	0.15
IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.95	0.01
SEX	0.32	0.27	0.12
MARST	0.38	0.51	-0.27

Table 23: Balance Tests: TPS Eligible (El Salvador vs. Mexico)

Notes: Balance tests comparing baseline characteristics of TPS-eligible migrants from El Salvador and control group migrants from Mexico. Any value below 0.2 is considered acceptable, indicating that the treatment and control groups are sufficiently similar in observed characteristics.

Variable	El Salvador Mean	Mexico Mean	Normalized Difference
AGE	28.70	28.88	-0.02
YEARS_EDUC	8.87	9.24	-0.12
LOGINCTOT	9.32	9.33	-0.01
LOGINCWAGE	9.30	9.32	-0.02
SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00
OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.22	0.14	0.21
IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.96	-0.05
SEX	0.27	0.21	0.12
MARST	0.31	0.45	-0.28

Table 24: Balance Tests: Non TPS-Eligible (El Salvador vs. Mexico)

Notes: Balance tests comparing baseline characteristics of Non-TPS-eligible migrants from El Salvador and control group migrants from Mexico. Any value below 0.2 is considered acceptable, indicating that the treatment and control groups are sufficiently similar in observed characteristics.

Variable	Country 1 Mean (Nicaragua/Honduras)	Country 2 Mean (Mexico)	Normalized Difference	Comparison
AGE	35.36	30.64	0.47	Nicaragua vs Mexico
YEARS_EDUC	10.74	9.46	0.51	Nicaragua vs Mexico
LOGINCTOT	9.68	9.63	0.05	Nicaragua vs Mexico
LOGINCWAGE	9.66	9.62	0.05	Nicaragua vs Mexico
SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00	Nicaragua vs Mexico
OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.33	0.29	0.08	Nicaragua vs Mexico
IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.95	-0.00	Nicaragua vs Mexico
SEX	0.46	0.27	0.41	Nicaragua vs Mexico
MARST	0.43	0.55	-0.25	Nicaragua vs Mexico
AGE	31.52	30.64	0.11	Honduras vs Mexico
YEARS_EDUC	9.46	9.46	0.00	Honduras vs Mexico
LOGINCTOT	9.67	9.63	0.04	Honduras vs Mexico
LOGINCWAGE	9.62	9.62	-0.00	Honduras vs Mexico
SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00	Honduras vs Mexico
OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.30	0.29	0.01	Honduras vs Mexico
IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.95	0.02	Honduras vs Mexico
SEX	0.34	0.27	0.16	Honduras vs Mexico
MARST	0.47	0.55	-0.16	Honduras vs Mexico

Table 25: Balance Tests: TPS Eligible (Honduras/Nicaragua vs. Mexico)

Notes: Balance tests comparing baseline characteristics of TPS-eligible migrants from Honduras and Nicaragua with control group migrants from Mexico. Any value below 0.2 is considered acceptable, indicating that the treatment and control groups are sufficiently similar in observed characteristics.

Variable	Country 1 Mean (Nicaragua/Honduras)	Country 2 Mean (Mexico)	Normalized Difference	Comparison
AGE	29.44	29.60	-0.02	Nicaragua vs Mexico
YEARS_EDUC	10.51	9.36	0.45	Nicaragua vs Mexico
LOGINCTOT	9.47	9.52	-0.05	Nicaragua vs Mexico
LOGINCWAGE	9.45	9.50	-0.06	Nicaragua vs Mexico
SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00	Nicaragua vs Mexico
OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.27	0.20	0.15	Nicaragua vs Mexico
IN_LABFORCE	0.95	0.95	-0.02	Nicaragua vs Mexico
SEX	0.37	0.27	0.22	Nicaragua vs Mexico
MARST	0.36	0.50	-0.29	Nicaragua vs Mexico
AGE	30.46	29.60	0.10	Honduras vs Mexico
YEARS_EDUC	9.22	9.36	-0.05	Honduras vs Mexico
LOGINCTOT	9.54	9.52	0.03	Honduras vs Mexico
LOGINCWAGE	9.53	9.50	0.03	Honduras vs Mexico
SPANISH_DUMMY	1.00	1.00	0.00	Honduras vs Mexico
OWNERSHP_DUMMY	0.21	0.20	0.01	Honduras vs Mexico
IN_LABFORCE	0.94	0.95	-0.03	Honduras vs Mexico
SEX	0.34	0.27	0.15	Honduras vs Mexico
MARST	0.40	0.50	-0.19	Honduras vs Mexico

Table 26: Balance Tests: Non-TPS Eligible (Honduras/Nicaragua vs. Mexico)

Notes: Balance tests comparing baseline characteristics of Non-TPS eligible migrants from Honduras and Nicaragua with control group migrants from Mexico. Any value below 0.2 is considered acceptable, indicating that the treatment and control groups are sufficiently similar in observed characteristics.

A.6 Event Studies

The graphs show the results of an event study analysis to examine if labor market outcomes evolved for similarly post-TPS arrivals from designated countries and Mexico, estimating year-by-year deviations relative to a 2002 reference year.



Figure 1: Event Study Graphs for El Salvador



Figure 2: Event Study Graphs for Honduras



Figure 3: Event Study Graphs for Nicaragua

A.7 Geographic Distribution

The graphs show the results of a geographic concentration analysis to examine which states respondents in the sample lived in. Distribution is shown by eligibility and country, compared to the corresponding Mexican sample.

Geographic Distribution - TPS Eligible



Figure 4: Geographic Distribution-TPS Eligible - Graph 1



Figure 6: Geographic Distribution-TPS Eligible - Graph 3

Geographic Distribution - TPS Not Eligible



Figure 7: Geographic Distribution-TPS Not Eligible - Graph 1



Figure 8: Geographic Distribution-TPS Not Eligible - Graph 2



Figure 9: Geographic Distribution-TPS Not Eligible - Graph 3

A.8 Robustness Checks

A.8.1 Guatemala Regression

Table 27: Regression Results: Guatemala Robustness Check

	EMPLOYED	LOGINCWAGE	LOGINCTOT	UHRSWORK	LABFORCE PARTICIPATION
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.002	0.089***	0.083***	-0.709**	-0.005
	(0.008)	(0.027)	(0.027)	(0.288)	(0.007)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.010	-0.029	-0.024	-0.482**	0.006
	(0.006)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.233)	(0.005)
DID	-0.000	-0.035	-0.034	0.212	0.001
	(0.012)	(0.039)	(0.039)	(0.417)	(0.011)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.000***	0.009^{***}	0.009^{***}	0.006	0.001***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.007)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.033***	-0.595***	-0.574***	-4.785***	-0.091***
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.147)	(0.004)
MARST	-0.003	0.040***	0.037***	0.123	-0.016***
	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.125)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.002	0.073***	0.072***	0.204***	-0.003*
	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.061)	(0.001)

Panel (B): Guate	mala - Hondura	s/Nicaragua	Years
------------------	----------------	-------------	-------

	EMPLOYED	LOGINCWAGE	LOGINCTOT	UHRSWORK	LABFORCE PARTICIPATION
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.008	0.061**	0.056^{**}	-0.646**	-0.008
	(0.008)	(0.027)	(0.027)	(0.311)	(0.009)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.008	0.039	0.032	0.471^{*}	-0.003
	(0.007)	(0.024)	(0.023)	(0.251)	(0.006)
DID	-0.011	0.003	-0.003	0.458	0.014
	(0.014)	(0.041)	(0.041)	(0.485)	(0.013)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.008***	0.009***	0.007	0.001^{***}
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.033***	-0.593***	-0.577***	-4.748***	-0.092***
	(0.004)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.150)	(0.004)
MARST	-0.001	0.047***	0.043***	0.080	-0.017***
	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.128)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	0.001	0.023***	0.026***	-0.033*	0.001
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.076)	(0.002)

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. *p < 0.1; **p < 0.05; ***p < 0.01.

The basic Difference-in-Differences (DiD) specification estimates the labor market effects of TPS eligibility using Guatemalan migrants as the treatment group and Mexican migrants as the control group. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the U.S. The sample is restricted to individuals with a high school diploma or less and those classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity-robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

 Table 28: Placebo Regression Results by Country

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	
	Panel (.	A): El Salv	vador			
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.004	0.129***	0.126***	-0.407*	0.003	
	(0.007)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.243)	(0.006)	
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	-0.002	-0.045**	-0.048**	-0.171	-0.007	
	(0.006)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.240)	(0.006)	
DID	0.010	0.007	-0.000	0.225	0.006	
(0.011) (0.039) (0.038) (0.447) (0.011)						
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001***	0.008***	0.009***	0.018**	0.001***	
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.008)	(0.000)	
SEX	-0.031***	-0.605***	-0.583***	-4.682***	-0.090***	
	(0.004)	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.141)	(0.004)	
MARST	0.005	0.068***	0.063***	0.380***	-0.014***	
	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.127)	(0.003)	
YEARS_IN_US	-0.002	0.023***	0.025***	0.085	0.001	
	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.059)	(0.001)	
	Panel	(B): Hondu	uras			
TPS_ELIGIBLE	0.009	0.101*	0.136***	0.193	0.015	

	(0.010)	(0.056)	(0.041)	(0.476)	(0.010)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.006	-0.005	0.014	-0.121	0.005
	(0.008)	(0.028)	(0.026)	(0.289)	(0.007)
DID	-0.018	0.086	0.038	1.064	0.013
	(0.020)	(0.080)	(0.071)	(0.874)	(0.017)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001**	0.009***	0.009***	0.031***	0.001***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.009)	(0.000)
SEX	-0.032***	-0.645***	-0.617***	-5.149***	-0.091***
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.155)	(0.005)
MARST	0.008**	0.093***	0.084***	0.624***	-0.012***
	(0.004)	(0.014)	(0.013)	(0.143)	(0.003)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.002	0.008	0.006	0.025	-0.005**
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.068)	(0.002)
	Panel (C): Nicara	agua		
TPS_ELIGIBLE	-0.021	0.048	0.037	-0.324	-0.010
	(0.034)	(0.076)	(0.075)	(1.004)	(0.032)
ELIGIBLEYRIMMIG	0.004	-0.000	0.014	-0.110	0.004
	(0.008)	(0.028)	(0.027)	(0.292)	(0.007)
DID	0.013	0.127	0.105	1.719	-0.029
	(0.040)	(0.104)	(0.103)	(1.446)	(0.059)
AGE_AT_TREATMENT	0.001**	0.009***	0.009***	0.030***	0.001***

SEX	-0.032***	-0.644***	-0.619***	-5.120***	-0.093***
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.157)	(0.005)
MARST	0.008**	0.092***	0.086***	0.625***	-0.012***
	(0.004)	(0.014)	(0.013)	(0.144)	(0.004)
YEARS_IN_US	-0.001	0.006	0.006	0.021	-0.004**
	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.069)	(0.002)

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses.

(1) Employed, (2) Log Wages, (3) Log Income, (4) Hours Worked, (5) In Labor Force

* p<0.1; ** p<0.05; *** p<0.01.

These regressions estimate a basic model placebo Difference-in-Differences (DiD) model, where TPS eligibility is randomly assigned to a cohort that should not have received it (1996 for El Salvador, 1994 for Honduras and Nicaragua). The purpose of this test is to assess whether the estimated DID effects in the main analysis are capturing the true impact of TPS or are driven by unrelated labor market trends. The model controls for TPS eligibility, year of migration, treatment status, age at treatment, sex, marital status, education level, year fixed effects, and years in the US. The sample is restricted to individuals classified as likely undocumented, meaning they speak Spanish at home, are noncitizens, or have a high school diploma or less. Standard errors are heteroskedasticity robust (HC3) and weighted using normalized person weights.

A.9 Industry Distribution

Honduras: Top Industries by TPS Eligibility and Gender

Men_TPS_Eligible	Women_TPS_Eligible	Men_TPS_Not_Eligible	Women_TPS_Not_Eligible
Construction	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Construction	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo
Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Manufacturing	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Waste Management
Waste Management	Waste Management	Manufacturing	Manufacturing
Other Services (Except Public Admin)	Other Services (Except Public Admin)	Other Services (Except Public Admin)	Other Services (Except Public Admin)
Manufacturing	Educational, Health and Social Services	Waste Management	Educational, Health and Social Services
Retail Trade	Utilities	Retail Trade	Utilities
Educational, Health and Social Services	Construction	Crop Production	Retail Trade
Furniture and related products manufactur	Retail Trade	Grocery stores	Construction

Figure 10: Top Industries for Honduras by TPS Eligibility and Gender

Nicaragua: Top Industries by TPS Eligibility and Gender

Men_TPS_Eligible	Women_TPS_Eligible	Men_TPS_Not_Eligible	Women_TPS_Not_Eligible
Construction	Manufacturing	Construction	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo
Other Services (Except Public Admin)	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Other Services (Except Public Admin)
Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Educational, Health and Social Services	Waste Management	Educational, Health and Social Services
Manufacturing	Retail Trade	Manufacturing	Manufacturing
Structural metals and tank and ship	Other Services (Except Public Admin)	Retail Trade	Waste Management
Utilities	Grocery stores	Services to Buildings and Dwellings	Retail Trade
Groceries and related products	Services to Buildings and Dwellings	Groceries and related products	Department stores
Grocery stores	Waste Management	Wholesale Trade	Miscellaneous nondurable goods

Figure 11: Top Industries for Nicaragua by TPS Eligibility and Gender

El Salvador: Top Industries by TPS Eligibility and Gender

Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accomm Educational, Health and Social Services Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accomm Waste Management Manufacturing Other Services (Except Public Administrati Waste Management Manufacturing Waste Management Manufacturing Manufacturing Educational, Health and Social Services Retail Trade Utilities Crop Production Utilities Truck transportation Grocery stores Retail Trade Retail Trade				
Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accomm Educational, Health and Social Services Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accomm Waste Management Manufacturing Other Services (Except Public Administrati Waste Management Manufacturing Waste Management Waste Management Waste Management Manufacturing Educational, Health and Social Services Retail Trade Utilities Crop Production Utilities Truck transportation Grocery stores Retail Trade Retail Trade	Men_TPS_Eligible	Women_TPS_Eligible	Men_TPS_Not_Eligible	Women_TPS_Not_Eligible
Manufacturing Other Services (Except Public Administrati Other Services (Except Public Administrati Other Services (Except Public Administrati Other Services (Except Public Administrati Waste Management Waste Management Manufacturing Waste Management Manufacturing Manufacturing Educational, Health and Social Sec Retail Trade Utilities Crop Production Utilities Truck transportation Grocery stores Retail Trade Retail Trade	Construction	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Construction	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo
Other Services (Except Public Administrati Waste Management Waste Management Manufacturing Waste Management Manufacturing Manufacturing Educational, Health and Social Se Retail Trade Utilities Crop Production Utilities Truck transportation Grocery stores Retail Trade Retail Trade	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Educational, Health and Social Services	Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, Accommo	Waste Management
Waste Management Manufacturing Manufacturing Educational, Health and Social Se Retail Trade Utilities Crop Production Utilities Truck transportation Grocery stores Retail Trade Retail Trade	Manufacturing	Other Services (Except Public Administrati	Other Services (Except Public Administrati	Other Services (Except Public Administrati
Retail Trade Utilities Crop Production Utilities Truck transportation Grocery stores Retail Trade Retail Trade	Other Services (Except Public Administrati	Waste Management	Waste Management	Manufacturing
Truck transportation Grocery stores Retail Trade Retail Trade	Waste Management	Manufacturing	Manufacturing	Educational, Health and Social Services
	Retail Trade	Utilities	Crop Production	Utilities
Wholesale Trade Construction Furniture and related products manufacture Not specified manufacturing indu	Truck transportation	Grocery stores	Retail Trade	Retail Trade
	Wholesale Trade	Construction	Furniture and related products manufactur	Not specified manufacturing industries

Figure 12: Top Industries for El Salvador by TPS Eligibility and Gender